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SPECIAL NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In addition to historical information, some of the information contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including information
with respect to our plans and strategy for our clinical programs and business and related financing, contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. All statements that express expectations, estimates, forecasts or projections are forward-looking
statements. Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”, “plans”, “believes”, “seeks”, “estimates”, “projects”, “forecasts”, “may”,
“should”, variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These statements are not
guarantees of future results and our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated or implied in these forward-looking statements as
a result of important factors described in the cautionary statements included in this document, particularly those discussed under the heading
“Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part II of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking
statements, or to make any other forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
“Tranzyme,” “Tranzyme Pharma” and MATCH™ are trademarks or servicemarks of Tranzyme, Inc. All other trademarks are property
of their respective owners.
Unless the context otherwise indicates, references in this report to the terms “Tranzyme”, “the Company”, “we,” “our” and “us” refer
to Tranzyme, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Unaudited Financial Statements
Tranzyme, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
March 31,
2012

December 31,
2011

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable, net

42,582

$

1,233

40,930
656

Investment tax credits receivable

504

838

Prepaid expenses and other assets

733

1,116

45,052

43,540

Total current assets
Investment tax credits receivable
Furniture, fixtures and equipment, net
Total assets

106

—

1,177

1,171

$

46,335

$

44,711

$

2,929

$

1,971

Liabilities and stockholders’ deficit
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities

2,558

1,549

Current portion of deferred revenue

4,181

5,574

Current portion of notes payable

365

238

Total current liabilities

10,033

9,332

Notes payable, less current portion

19,193

10,734

171

163

29,397

20,229

—

—

Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ deficit:
Preferred Stock, $.00001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized and no shares issued or outstanding at March 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011
Common Stock, $.00001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011; 24,607,888 shares
issued and outstanding at March 31, 2012; 24,597,845 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2011
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)

—

—

132,651

131,795

(663)

(683)

(115,050)

(106,630)

16,938

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

(See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)
1

46,335

24,482
$

44,711

Tranzyme, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

Licensing and royalty revenue
Research revenue
Total revenue
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Net income (loss)

$

Net loss per share— basic and diluted

$

1,897
442
2,339

$

8,140
1,948
10,088
(7,480)
(432)
(508)
(8,420)

$

4,501
971
5,472
(3,133)
(420)
188
(3,365)

$

(0.34)

$

(24.00)

24,601,447

Shares used to compute net loss per share— basic and diluted
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustment

$

Comprehensive income (loss)

$
(See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)

2

2011

1,443
1,165
2,608

(8,420)
20
(8,400)

140,192

$
$

(3,365)
35
(3,330)

Tranzyme, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

Operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation
Recognition of deferred revenue
Share-based compensation expense
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Non-cash interest expense
Fair value adjustment - warrant liability
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable and investment tax credits
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

$

Investing activities:
Purchases of furniture, fixtures, and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Repayment of debt
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable
Initial public offering costs
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

(See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)

3

2011

(8,420) $

(3,365)

84
(1,394)
291
520
105
—

77
(1,823)
60
—
60
(195)

(335)
342
951
1,041
(6,815)

(368)
(678)
1,977
(159)
(4,414)

(66)
(66)

(11)
(11)

(4,934)
13,434
—
38
8,538
(5)
1,652
40,930
42,582 $

—
(483)
—
(483)
14
(4,894)
17,373
12,479

Tranzyme, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2012
(Unaudited)
1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation
Description of Business
Tranzyme, Inc. ("Tranzyme") was incorporated in the State of Delaware on January 12, 1998. On December 17, 2003, Tranzyme entered
into a business combination with Neokimia Inc., a Quebec, Canada-based chemistry company and changed the name to Tranzyme Pharma Inc.
("Tranzyme Pharma"). Tranzyme Pharma is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tranzyme, Inc. The Company, collectively Tranzyme and Tranzyme
Pharma, operates in one segment.
The Company is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on discovery, development and commercialization of small
molecule therapeutics for the treatment of gastrointestinal (GI) motility disorders. The Company’s two most advanced product candidates are:
•

ulimorelin — an intravenous ghrelin agonist in Phase 3 clinical development for the acceleration of postoperative GI recovery.
Ulimorelin is designed to accelerate the return of normal GI function in patients experiencing GI dysfunction in the acute care
setting.

•

TZP-102—an orally administered ghrelin agonist that has commenced Phase 2b clinical development for treatment of diabetic
gastroparesis, an upper GI motility disorder.

The Company’s business is subject to significant risks consistent with biopharmaceutical companies seeking to develop technologies and
product candidates for human therapeutic use. These risks include, but are not limited to, uncertainties regarding research and development,
access to capital, obtaining and enforcing patents, receiving regulatory approval and competition with other biotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies.
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Tranzyme and its subsidiary, Tranzyme Pharma. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. All amounts included in these notes to consolidated financial statements are
reported in U.S. dollars, unless otherwise indicated.
The Company’s operations since inception have consisted primarily of organizing the Company, conducting research and development
including clinical trials and securing financing. In December 2009, the Company entered into its first revenue generating collaboration
agreement consistent with the Company’s business objectives and emerged from the development stage. As of March 31, 2012 , the Company
has incurred losses since inception of $115.1 million . The Company expects to continue to incur losses and requires additional financial
resources to advance its products to either commercial stage or liquidity events.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Unaudited Financial Statements
The accompanying balance sheet as of March 31, 2012 , statements of comprehensive income for the three months ended March 31, 2012
and 2011 and cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 are unaudited. These unaudited financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for interim financial
information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles "GAAP"
for complete annual financial statements. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and the
accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2011 contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
February 29, 2012. The unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the annual financial statements and, in
the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) necessary to state fairly the Company’s financial
position as of March 31, 2012 , and the results of operations for the three month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 and cash flows for the
three month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011. The December 31, 2011 balance sheet included herein was derived from audited financial
statements, but does not include all disclosures including notes
4

required by GAAP for complete annual financial statements.
The financial data and other information disclosed in these notes to the financial statements related to the three month periods ended
March 31, 2012 and 2011 are unaudited. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for an entire year.
Common Stock Split
On March 2, 2011, the Company’s board of directors approved a 1-for-7 reverse stock split of the Company’s outstanding common stock.
In connection with this reverse stock split, the preferred stock conversion price was adjusted to reflect a proportional decrease in the number of
shares of common stock to be issuable upon conversion. The reverse stock split became effective on March 31, 2011. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements for the three month period ended March 31, 2011, and notes to consolidated financial statements give
retroactive effect to the reverse stock split.
Initial Public Offering
On April 6, 2011, the Company completed its initial public offering of common stock (the “IPO”) pursuant to a registration statement that
was declared effective on April 1, 2011. The Company sold 13,500,000 shares of its common stock, at a price of $4.00 per share for aggregate
gross proceeds of $54,000,000. The underwriters had 30 days to exercise their option to purchase up to an additional 1,481,250 shares at the
initial public offering price per share pursuant to an over-allotment option granted to the underwriters. The underwriters partially exercised their
over-allotment option on April 29, 2011 and purchased an additional 850,000 shares of our common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of
$3,400,000.
As a result of the IPO, the Company raised a total of $51.4 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions of $4.0 million and offering expenses of approximately $2.0 million. Costs directly associated with the IPO were capitalized and
recorded as deferred IPO costs prior to the closing of the IPO. These costs were recorded as a reduction of the proceeds received in arriving at
the amount to be recorded in additional paid-in capital.
Upon the closing of the IPO, 18,395,156 shares of the Company’s common and preferred exchangeable shares of Tranzyme’s subsidiary,
Tranzyme Pharma automatically exchanged into a total of 2,627,862 shares of the common stock of Tranzyme. In addition, 52,085,690 shares of
Tranzyme’s outstanding preferred stock automatically converted into a total of 7,440,791 shares of its common stock and the preferred stock
warrant liability was reclassified to additional paid in capital upon the conversion of warrants to purchase preferred stock into warrants to
purchase common stock.
Investment Tax Credits Receivable
The Company participates in government assistance programs in Quebec, Canada that provide refundable investment tax credits for certain
research and development expenditures. The receivable represents management’s estimate of amounts expected to be recovered and is subject to
adjustment based upon audit by Quebec, Canada taxation authorities. The Company reported investment tax credits receivable using the flowthrough method of $610,000 and $838,000 as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
Deferred Offering Costs
Deferred public offering costs represent legal, accounting and other direct costs related to the Company’s efforts to raise capital through a
public sale of the Company’s common stock. Costs related to the IPO activities were deferred until the completion of the IPO, at which time they
were reclassified to additional paid-in capital as a reduction of the IPO proceeds. Upon closing of the IPO, approximately $2.0 million of
offering costs were recorded as a reduction of the proceeds received.
Warrant Liability
Certain warrants to purchase the Company’s capital stock had historically been classified as liabilities and were recorded at estimated fair
value. At each reporting period, any change in fair value of the freestanding warrants was recorded as other (expense) income. As a result of the
IPO, the preferred stock warrant liability was reclassified to additional paid in capital upon the conversion of warrants to purchase preferred
stock into warrants to purchase common stock.
Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenues generally consist of licensing and royalty revenue and fees for research services from license or collaboration
agreements. The Company recognizes revenues when all four of the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive
5

evidence that an arrangement exists; (2) delivery of the products and/or services has occurred; (3) the selling price is fixed or determinable; and
(4) collectability is reasonably assured. Royalty revenue is recognized in licensing and royalty revenue as applicable licensed products are sold.
For arrangements that include multiple deliverables, the Company identifies separate units of accounting if certain separation criteria are
met in accordance with ASC Topic 605-25, Multiple Element Arrangements . This evaluation requires subjective determinations and requires
management to make judgments about the fair value of the individual elements and whether such elements are separable from the other aspects
of the contractual relationship. If the Company determines they are separable, the Company will recognize revenue separately for each unit. If
management determines the arrangement constitutes a single unit of accounting, revenue will be recognized as a combined unit for the entire
arrangement. The consideration for the arrangement is allocated to the separate units of accounting based on their relative fair values. Applicable
revenue recognition criteria are considered separately for each unit of accounting. The Company typically receives upfront, nonrefundable
payments when licensing its intellectual property in conjunction with a research and development agreement. Management believes that these
payments generally are not separable from the activity of providing research and development services because the license does not have standalone value separate from the research and development services that the Company provides under applicable agreements. Accordingly, the
Company accounts for these elements as one unit of accounting and recognizes upfront, nonrefundable payments as licensing and royalty
revenue on a straight-line basis over its contractual or estimated performance period, which is typically the term of its research and development
obligations. As a result, the Company is often required to make estimates regarding drug development timelines for compounds being developed
pursuant to a strategic collaboration agreement. Amounts received in advance of services performed are recorded as deferred revenue until
earned.
The Company’s strategic collaboration agreements may also contain non-refundable payments. Revenue for non-refundable payments
based on the achievement of collaboration milestones beginning January 1, 2011 is recognized in accordance with ASC 605, Subtopic 28,
Milestone Method , or ASC 605-28. Under ASC 605-28, a milestone payment is recognized as revenue when the applicable event is achieved if
the event meets the definition of a milestone and the milestone is determined to be substantive. ASC 605-28 defines a milestone event as an
event having all of the following characteristics: (1) there is substantive uncertainty regarding achievement of the milestone event at the
inception of the arrangement; (2) the event can only be achieved based, in whole or in part, on either the Company's performance or a specific
outcome resulting from the Company's performance; and (3) if achieved, the event would result in additional payment due to the Company. A
milestone is considered substantive if it meets all of the following criteria: (1) the payment is commensurate with either the Company's
performance to achieve the milestone or with the enhancement of the value of the delivered item; (2) the payment relates solely to past
performance; and (3) the payment is reasonable relative to all of the deliverables and payment terms within the arrangement. If any of these
conditions is not met, the milestone payment is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over a period determined as discussed above.
The Company’s collaboration agreements may also include payment for research and development services provided by the Company on a
contractual rate and direct expense basis. The Company records such payments as revenue in accordance with the agreements when the
Company acts as principal in the transaction. In addition, certain of the Company’s collaboration agreements contain cost-sharing provisions for
development activities. Reimbursable amounts received under these cost sharing provisions are reflected as a reduction of research and
development expense.
Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses include personnel costs associated with
research and development activities including non-cash share-based compensation, costs for third-party contractors to perform research, conduct
clinical trials and prepare drug materials, research supplies and facilities costs. The Company accrues for costs incurred by external service
providers, including contract research organizations and clinical investigators, based on its estimates of service performed and costs incurred.
These estimates include the level of services performed by the third parties, patient enrollment in clinical trials, administrative costs incurred by
the third parties, and other indicators of the services completed. Based on the timing of amounts invoiced by service providers, the Company
may also record payments made to those providers as prepaid expenses that will be recognized as expense in future periods as the related
services are rendered.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability approach, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for
the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial statements or tax returns. In estimating
future tax consequences, the Company generally considers all expected future events
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other than enactment of changes in tax law or rates. If it is more likely than not that some or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized, the
Company records a valuation allowance.
Share-based Compensation
Share-based awards, including stock options, are recorded at their fair value as of the grant date and recognized to expense on a straightline basis over the employee’s requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the award. Share-based compensation expense is
based on awards ultimately expected to vest, and therefore the recorded expense includes an estimate of future forfeitures. Forfeitures are to be
estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The measurement
of nonemployee share-based compensation is subject to periodic adjustments as the underlying equity instruments vest and is recognized as an
expense over the period over which services are received. The Company estimates the fair value of share-based awards to employees, directors
and non-employees using the Black-Scholes option-valuation model. The Black-Scholes model requires the input of subjective assumptions,
including volatility, the expected term and the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant, among other inputs.
Fair Value
The Company’s financial instruments consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued
liabilities and warrant liability. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of such instruments. The carrying amounts of borrowings under the Company’s debt
facilities approximate their fair values as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, based on the determination that the stated rates on such
debt are consistent with current interest rates for similar borrowing arrangements available to the Company. The carrying amounts of warrant
liabilities are revalued and adjusted using the Black-Scholes valuation model at the end of each reporting period to reflect their fair values.
Fair value measurements are classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:
Level 1 —Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 —Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market
data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3 —Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and are significant to the fair value of the assets
or liabilities.
As of March 31, 2011, the Company measured its warrant liability using significant unobservable prices that were based on little or no
verifiable market data, which is Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, resulting in a fair value estimate of $76,000. Upon the completion of the
IPO, the liability was reclassified to stockholders’ equity at its then fair value of $76,000, as the warrants to purchase preferred stock converted
into warrants to purchase common stock.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued updated accounting guidance related to the presentation of comprehensive
income. This guidance requires that all non-owner changes in stockholders’ equity be presented either in a single continuous statement of
comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. This guidance is effective for the Company's interim and annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the Company's consolidated results
of operations, financial position, or liquidity.

3. Net Loss per Share
Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s Common stock
outstanding for the period, without consideration for common stock equivalents. The Company’s Class C Common stock is excluded from the
calculated net loss per share for the three months ended March 31, 2011 because it is a non-participating security and has no liquidation rights
upon liquidation or dissolution of the Company. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number
of common share equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the treasury-stock method. Under the treasury-stock method earnings
per share data is computed as if
7

the common share equivalents were outstanding at the beginning of the period (or at the time of issuance, if later) and as if the funds obtained
from exercise of the common stock equivalents were used to purchase common stock at the average market price during the period. If there is
little or no market for the common stock, a reasonable estimate of fair value shall be used. For purposes of this calculation, preferred stock, stock
options and warrants to purchase capital stock are considered to be common stock equivalents and are only included in the calculation of diluted
net loss per share when their effect is dilutive.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share in thousands, except share and per share data:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

Historical
Numerator:
Net loss
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding

$

Net loss per share— basic and diluted

$

2011

(8,420) $

(3,365)

24,601,447

140,192

(0.34) $

(24.00)

Potentially dilutive securities not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per common share because to do so would be anti-dilutive
are as follows (in common equivalent shares on a weighted-average basis):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

Series A Convertible Preferred stock
Series B Convertible Preferred stock
Convertible Debt
Common Exchangeable shares
Preferred Exchangeable shares
Common stock options
Common stock warrants

—
—
—
—
—
2,379,765
175,861

2011

7,291,203
149,588
—
138,860
2,489,002
752,943
67,462

4. Strategic Collaboration and License Agreements
Norgine B.V.
In June 2010, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Norgine B.V. ("Norgine") to develop and commercialize the
Company’s product candidate, ulimorelin , in a licensed territory that includes Europe, Australia, New Zealand, Middle East, North Africa and
South Africa. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company received a nonrefundable, upfront payment of $8.0 million. The licensing fee was
deferred and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of 31 months, which represents the estimated period of time over which the
Company’s involvement in the core development phase of the collaboration is a substantive performance obligation.
In conjunction with the collaboration agreement, Norgine purchased 1,047,120 shares of the Company’s Series B Convertible Preferred
stock at $1.91 per share, for total cash proceeds of $2.0 million, net of issuance costs of $28,000 constituting a first closing of the Company's
Series B Convertible Preferred stock financing. The agreement also obligates Norgine to purchase an additional $1.0 million of equity securities
at a subsequent closing upon the occurrence of a development milestone as specified in the agreement. The shares of the Company’s Series B
Convertible Stock held by Norgine converted into 149,588 shares of common stock upon the closing of the IPO.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company engaged a third party valuation specialist to assist management in determining the
estimated fair value of the first tranche issuance of Series B Convertible Preferred shares. The fair value of the equity issuance was determined to
be $1.6 million or $1.55 per share. Based on this fair value estimate, it was determined that the shares sold to Norgine in conjunction with the
collaboration included a $0.36 per share premium. The Company recorded the $377,000 stock premium as deferred revenue which is being
amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of 31 months,
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representing the estimated period of time over which the Company’s involvement in the core development phase of the collaboration is a
substantive performance obligation.
At the end of each reporting period, the Company reevaluates the period of time over which it's involvement in the collaboration is a
substantive performance obligation. For the three month period ended March 31, 2012, the Company determined that no change was required to
the remaining estimated period of time over which the Company’s involvement in the core development phase of the collaboration is a
substantive performance obligation.
The Company recognized $823,000 of the upfront fee as licensing revenue including the amortization of stock premium, in each of the three
month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011.
The agreement provides for a co-managed product development campaign, and contains cost-sharing provisions whereby the companies will
share certain costs related to manufacturing and development performed by third parties including reimbursement from Norgine for certain raw
material costs incurred prior to the effective date of the agreement. These raw material costs will be reimbursable when used in the
manufacturing of clinical trial materials for the core development program. Costs for development services provided under the agreement are
expensed as incurred. The Company recognized $35,000 and $1.2 million as a reduction in research and development expenses as a result of
reimbursement for cost-sharing activities under this agreement for the three month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company
In December 2009, the Company entered into a two-year collaboration agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company ("BMS") to
discover, develop and commercialize novel macrocyclic compounds, other than the Company’s product candidates and internal programs,
directed against a limited number of targets of interest to BMS. Under the terms of the agreement, BMS is funding the Company’s lead
discovery efforts on these targets and is also primarily responsible for optimizing the identified lead compounds. BMS will be solely responsible
for preclinical and clinical development of all products arising from the collaboration and for their commercialization globally. In connection
with the agreement, the Company received an upfront license fee of $10.0 million and the Company may receive up to approximately
$80.0 million in additional development milestone payments, and $30.0 million in sales milestone payments, for each target program if
development and regulatory milestones, or commercial milestones, respectively, are achieved. In addition, the Company would receive
graduated single-digit percentage royalties and sales milestone payments on annual net sales of commercial products. The upfront licensing fee
was deferred and was initially being amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of 30 months, which represents the estimated period of time
over which the Company’s involvement in the collaboration is a substantive performance obligation or deliverable. The research program term
was to expire in December 2011; however, in September 2011, the research collaboration was extended by BMS for a six-month period through
June 2012. The agreement may be further extended. As a result of the extension, the Company reassessed the period of time over which the
Company's involvement in the collaboration represents a substantive performance obligation or deliverable and changed the amortization period
for the remaining deferred upfront licensing fee from 30 months to 36 months.
At the end of each reporting period, the Company reevaluates the period of time over which its involvement in the collaboration is a
substantive performance obligation. For the three month period ended March 31, 2012, the Company determined that no change was required to
the remaining estimated period of time over which the Company’s involvement in the core development phase of the collaboration is a
substantive performance obligation.
The agreement also provided for up to $6.0 million in research funding, payable in quarterly installments, over the initial two-year
research program to support personnel related expenses, laboratory supplies and equipment to support the discovery efforts. BMS will provide
up to $2.5 million in research funding during the six-month extension period. Revenue for development services provided under the agreement is
recognized as earned where the Company acts as principal in the transaction.
The following is the Company's revenue for the BMS collaboration for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

Licensing revenue
Research revenue

$

Total

$
9

2011

570
1,165
1,735

$
$

1,000
442
1,442

Open Biosystems, Inc.
In October 2005, the Company entered into a license and marketing agreement whereby Open Biosystems, Inc. acquired a worldwide
royalty-bearing license to certain intellectual property unrelated to the Company’s product candidates and Macrocyclic Template Chemistry
(MATCH) drug discovery technology, as specified in the agreement. The Company earns royalties on annual net sales at rates that vary by
licensed product category as defined in the agreement or, through 2010, minimum annual royalties, if greater than earned royalties, until the
expiration date of the last-to-expire licensed patent or twelve years, whichever occurs last. Royalty revenue recognized from the licensing
agreement was $50,000 and $64,000 for the three month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
5. Notes Payable and Other Liabilities
2008 Notes Payable
In December 2008, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (the "2008 Notes") with two lenders, including the holder
of promissory notes issued by the Company in 2006, for a total commitment of $6.3 million, and issued a note in the amount of $3.2 million to
each lender. The 2008 Notes carried an interest rate equal to 12.09% per annum, were repayable in monthly installments and were to mature on
December 1, 2011. Borrowings were collateralized by all of the assets of the Company excluding intellectual property.
In connection with the 2008 Notes, the Company issued to the two lenders warrants to purchase shares of preferred stock with an
aggregate purchase price of $200,000. The warrants were exercisable for Series A Convertible Preferred stock at a price per share of $1.00. The
warrants were recorded as a debt discount at estimated fair value of $87,000, which was being amortized as a component of interest expense over
the remaining life of the loan. The warrants are exercisable for seven years from the date of issuance and expire on December 3, 2015. The
warrants include an automatic conversion feature upon expiration. Upon the closing of the IPO, the warrants became exercisable for shares of
our common stock at a price per share of $7.00.
2010 Notes Payable
On September 30, 2010, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with two lenders for a total commitment $13.0 million.
On October 1, 2010, the parties executed the related note agreements (the "2010 Notes") and the Company repaid the outstanding principal and
interest of $3.4 million on the 2008 Notes. The 2010 Notes carried an interest rate equal to 10.75% per annum and were to mature on January 1,
2014. The 2010 Notes were payable in nine installments of interest only followed by thirty installments of principal plus interest. Principal
payments on the 2010 Notes commenced in August 2011. In connection with the 2010 loan and security agreement, the Company issued
warrants to purchase an aggregate of $520,000 in stock of the Company, which were contingently exercisable for a class and series of shares and
exercise price as determined by future events as specified in the agreement. Upon the closing of the IPO, the warrants became exercisable for
shares of the Company's common stock. The Company determined the fair value of the warrants to be $254,000 and recorded the warrant as a
liability with a related debt discount to be amortized as interest expense over the term of the 2010 Notes.
The Company recognized $20,000 and $410,000 in interest expense, including the amortization of the warrants, for the three month
period ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
2012 Notes Payable
On January 31, 2012, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (the "2012 Notes") with the
holders of the 2010 Notes whereby the lenders provided the Company with approximately $13.4 million of new proceeds, of which $4.1 million
was used to repay a portion of the outstanding principal on the 2010 Notes. The interest rate on all of the outstanding notes was reset to 10.0%
per annum. The Company will make interest only payments through February 1, 2013, and then will make 30 monthly principal and interest
payments through August 1, 2015, to fully amortize the loan. In addition, the approximately $6.6 million of 2010 Notes that were reissued under
the 2012 Notes were reamortized to follow the same interest-only period followed by the same 30 monthly principal and interest payments.
In connection with the 2012 Notes, the Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 163,488 shares of the Company's common
stock at an exercise price of $3.67 per share. The warrants are immediately exercisable, and excluding certain mergers or acquisitions, will
expire on January 30, 2022. The Company determined the fair value of the warrants to be $527,000 using the Black-Scholes pricing model and
recorded the warrants as a debt discount to be amortized as interest
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expense over the term of the 2012 Notes using the effective interest rate method.
The Company recognized $419,000 in interest expense, including the amortization of the warrants, for the three month period ended
March 31, 2012.
The Company determined that the early prepayment and exchange of the 2010 Notes resulted in an exchange of debt instruments with
substantially different terms, resulting in a $520,000 loss on extinguishment of debt reflected in other expense for the three month period ended
March 31, 2012.
6. Equity Transactions
Warrants and Warrant Liability
In connection with the 2010 Notes (see Note 5), the Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of $520,000 in capital stock of the
Company, which were contingently exercisable for a class and series of shares as determined by future events as specified in the agreement. The
2010 warrants became exercisable for shares of common stock upon closing of the Company's initial public offering.
The warrants were valued under the level 3 hierarchy in accordance with ASC 820 as there are significant unobservable inputs. The fair
value of the warrants was determined using a probability weighted valuation model. Values were determined for the warrants based on
assumptions for each liquidity scenario using a Black-Scholes pricing model and other methods. These values were discounted back to
October 1, 2010, the issuance date, while applying estimated probabilities to each scenario and associated value on a weighted average basis.
These scenarios included a potential initial public offering or potential acquisition at different times throughout 2011 and 2012. Accordingly, the
Company determined the initial fair value of the warrants to be $254,000, which was recorded as a convertible preferred stock warrant liability
and related debt discount. Upon the completion of the Company’s IPO, the liability was reclassified to stockholders’ equity at its then fair value
of $76,000.
As of March 31, 2012, the following warrants to purchase common stock were outstanding:

Issuance Date
12/3/2008
9/30/2010
1/31/2012
Total warrants outstanding

Exercise
Shares
Price
28,570 $
7.00
38,892 $ 13.37
163,488 $
3.67
230,950

Expiration
12/3/2015
04/06/2016
01/31/2022

Share-based Compensation
During 2001, the Company adopted two equity compensation plans, the Tranzyme 2001 Employee Stock Option Plan and the 2001
Nonemployee Stock Option Plan (the "2001 Plans"), which authorized up to 1,000,000 and 445,000 shares of common stock, respectively, for
granting both incentive and nonqualified stock options to employees, directors, consultants and other individuals set forth in the 2001 Plans. The
exercise price and vesting period of the options issued under the plans were determined by the Company’s Board of Directors at the date of
grant.
During 2003, the Company adopted an equity compensation plan, the Tranzyme 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2003 Plan"), for eligible
employees, directors, consultants and other individuals set forth in the 2003 Plan. The terms of the stock option agreements, including vesting
requirements, were determined by the Company’s Board of Directors, subject to the provisions of the 2003 Plan.
In 2004, Tranzyme Pharma adopted an equity compensation plan, the Tranzyme Pharma 2004 Stock Option Plan (the "2004 Plan"), which
authorized shares of Tranzyme Pharma’s common exchangeable stock for granting stock options to employees, directors and consultants and
other individuals set forth in the 2004 Plan. The terms of the stock option agreements, including vesting requirements, were determined by
Tranzyme Pharma’s Board of Directors, subject to the provisions of the 2004 Plan.
Options granted by the Company generally vest over four years and are exercisable after they have been granted for up to ten years from
the date of grant.
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On March 3, 2011 the Company’s Board of Directors adopted, and stockholders subsequently approved, the 2011 Stock Option Plan, (the
“2011 Plan”) which authorized the issuance of up to 2,627,945 shares of common stock under the plan. The plan became effective on April 1,
2011. As of April 1, 2011, no further shares will be issued under the 2001 Plans, the 2003 Plan or the 2004 Plan. To the extent outstanding
awards under the 2001 Plans, the 2003 Plan or the 2004 Plan are cancelled, forfeited or otherwise terminated without being exercised, the
number of shares underlying such awards will be available for grant under the 2011 Plan. The following summarizes shares outstanding,
exercisable and available for grant under the plan as of March 31, 2012:

Shares Outstanding

2001 Stock Option Plans
2003 Equity Incentive Plan
2004 Stock Option Plan
2011 Stock Option Plan
Total Shares outstanding

1,448
617,949
51,228
1,664,336

1,448
607,681
51,228
140,000
800,357

2,334,961
2,627,945
292,984

Total Shares authorized
Total Shares available for grant

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of
Shares Outstanding

Shares
Exercisable

$

$

11.34
3.42
5.95
3.74
3.71

On February 28, 2012, the Company issued 10,043 shares of common stock upon the exercise of stock options at a weighted exercise
price of $3.78 for cash proceeds of approximately $38,000.
A total of 186,607 options were forfeited for the three month period ended March 31, 2012.
For the three month period ended March 31, 2012, the Board of Directors authorized and granted common stock options from the 2011
Plan to employees of the Company as follows:
Date

Shares

February 23, 2012

Weighted Average Fair
Value

Exercise price

50,000

$

4.98 $

3.42

The exercise price of stock options was equal to the closing market price of the underlying common stock on the grant date. The
weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes valuation model for equity awards granted for the three month period ended March 31,
2012 are shown in the table below. There were no options issued for the three month period ended March 31, 2011.

Three Months Ended March 31,
2012

Expected volatility
Expected dividends
Expected life
Risk-free interest rate

78.2%
—
6.25
1.40%

The Company determined the options’ life based upon the use of the simplified method. As a newly public company, sufficient history to
estimate the volatility and dividend yield of our common stock is not available. The Company uses a pool of comparable companies as a basis
for the expected volatility assumption and dividend yield. The Company intends to continue to consistently apply this process using the
comparable companies until sufficient amount of historical information becomes available. The risk free interest rate is based upon the yield of
an applicable Treasury instrument.
The Company recognized non-cash share-based compensation expense to employees in its research and development and selling, general
and administrative functions as follows:
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Three Months
Ended March 31,
2012

Research and development
General and administrative

$
$

2011

69,000 $
222,000
291,000 $

24,000
36,000
60,000

7. Subsequent Events
On May 7, 2012, the Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for the
issuance and sale of up to $100.0 million of equity or other securities.
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Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our financial statements
and related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as the information relating to such audited financial statements
contained under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Annual Report
on Form 10-K, which includes annual financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011. In addition to historical
information, some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this document, including information
with respect to our plans and strategy for our clinical programs, business and related financing, contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. All statements that express expectations, estimates, forecasts or projections are forward-looking
statements. Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”, “plans”, “believes”, “seeks”, “estimates”, “projects”, “forecasts”, “may”,
“should”, variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These statements are not
guarantees of future results and our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated or implied in these forward-looking statements as
a result of important factors described in the cautionary statements included in this document, particularly those discussed under the heading
“Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part II of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forwardlooking statements, or to make any other forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
Overview
We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on discovering, developing and commercializing novel, first-in-class small
molecule therapeutics for the treatment of gastrointestinal motility disorders. Our two most advanced product candidates, ulimorelin , which is in
Phase 3, and TZP-102, which entered Phase 2b in September 2011, are being evaluated for the treatment of predominantly upper GI motility
disorders. All of our product candidates have been discovered by our scientists using our proprietary chemistry technology platform, MATCH
(Macrocyclic Template Chemistry), which enables us to construct synthetic libraries of drug-like, macrocyclic compounds in a predictable and
efficient manner. We have first-in-class product candidates and a strong drug discovery platform, and have pursued a licensing strategy with
collaborators whose capabilities complement our own.
We were incorporated in Delaware on January 12, 1998. On December 17, 2003, we entered into a business combination with
Neokimia Inc., a Quebec, Canada-based chemistry company which now operates under the name Tranzyme Pharma Inc., or Tranzyme Pharma.
Tranzyme Pharma is a wholly-owned subsidiary and owns substantially all of our intellectual property and conducts our preclinical research.
We have devoted substantially all of our resources to our drug discovery efforts which consist of research and development activities,
clinical trials for our product candidates, the general and administrative support of these operations and intellectual property protection and
maintenance. To date, we have funded our operations principally through private placements of our common stock, preferred stock and
convertible debt; bank and other lender financings; and through payments received under collaborative licensing arrangements with
Norgine B.V., or Norgine, and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, or BMS, raising an aggregate of approximately $116.0 million. In April 2011,
we completed an initial public offering, or IPO, of our common stock pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-170749)
raising an aggregate of $51.4 million in net proceeds.
We have incurred significant losses since our inception. As of March 31, 2012 , our accumulated deficit was approximately $115.1
million . We expect to incur significant operating losses over the next several years as we continue the development of our most advanced
product candidates and develop other product candidates.

Strategic Partnerships
Norgine, B.V. In June 2010, we entered into a license agreement with Norgine, a leading, GI-focused European specialty
pharmaceutical company, to co-develop and commercialize ulimorelin in licensed territories that include Europe, Australia, New Zealand,
Middle East, North Africa and South Africa. Under the terms of the agreement, we received a nonrefundable, upfront license fee of $8.0 million.
In addition, Norgine purchased 1,047,120 shares of our Series B convertible preferred stock for $1.91 per share, resulting in total net proceeds of
approximately $2.0 million. Upon closing of our IPO in 2011, these shares converted into 149,588 shares of our common stock.
The agreement contains potential development and regulatory milestones that, if achieved, could provide us with additional cash
payments of up to $32.0 million, including the purchase of $1.0 million of additional shares of our capital stock.
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Upon the achievement of certain milestones, we will issue shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to $1.0 million divided by
110% of the average of the closing bid price of our common stock over the 30-day period ending six days prior to the issuance of these
additional shares. In addition, we may receive sales milestone payments of up to approximately $120.0 million and tiered royalties beginning in
the low teens escalating up several tiers to the high twenties on annual net sales of commercialized products within the licensed territory. The
$8.0 million nonrefundable up-front payment is being deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over 31 months, the estimated period of
time of the core development phase of the collaboration. As of March 31, 2012 , we have not received any milestone or royalty payments.
Under the agreement, Norgine is sharing the cost of our Phase 3 clinical trials and the cost of procuring clinical manufacturing supply for
the trials. Each party is solely responsible for managing and covering the cost of regulatory filings in its own territories. In addition, each party is
solely responsible for the cost of any special studies required for regulatory approval specific to its own territory. Costs for development services
provided under the agreement are expensed as incurred. Reimbursement of expenses under this agreement will be offset against costs as
incurred. We have recognized a reduction in research and development expenses as a result of reimbursement for cost-sharing activities under
this agreement of approximately $35,000 and $1.2 million for the three month period ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company . In December 2009, we entered into a collaboration agreement with BMS to discover, develop and
commercialize additional novel compounds discovered using our MATCH technology platform, other than our product candidates and internal
programs, against a limited number of targets of interest to BMS. Under the terms of the agreement, BMS is funding our early lead discovery
efforts on these targets and is also primarily responsible for optimizing the identified lead compounds. BMS will be solely responsible for
preclinical and clinical development of all product candidates arising from the collaboration and, if successful products are developed, for their
commercialization globally. As part of the agreement, we received a $10.0 million nonrefundable upfront license fee, and we may receive up to
approximately $80.0 million in additional development milestone payments, and $30.0 million in sales milestone payments, for each target
program if development and regulatory milestones, or commercial milestones, respectively, are achieved. In addition, we would receive
graduated single-digit percentage royalties and sales milestone payments on sales of commercialized products. The $10.0 million nonrefundable
upfront license fee is being deferred and was being recognized on a straight-line basis over thirty months, the estimated initial research and
collaboration period of the agreement. In September 2011, BMS extended the collaboration agreement for an additional six-month period and we
changed the amortization period for the remaining unamortized upfront payment from 30 months to 36 months. On April 27, 2012, BMS further
extended the research collaboration for an additional three-month period through September 2012. As of March 31, 2012, we have not received
any milestone or royalty payments, and we are not certain when we will be eligible for such payments in the future.
The agreement provided for up to $6.0 million in research funding, payable in quarterly installments, over the initial two-year research
program to support personnel related expenses, laboratory supplies and equipment to support the discovery efforts. BMS will provide for up to
$2.5 million in research funding during the six-month extension period. The collaboration agreement may be further extended. We recognized
revenue for reimbursement of research costs under this agreement of $1.2 million and $442,000 for the three month period ended March 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively.
Open Biosystems, Inc . In October 2005, we entered into a license and marketing agreement whereby Open Biosystems, Inc. acquired
a worldwide royalty-bearing license to certain of our intellectual property unrelated to our product candidates and MATCH drug discovery
technology. The agreement provides for royalty revenue on annual net sales at rates ranging from mid-single digits to 20 percent based on sales
by licensed product category or, through 2010, minimum annual royalties if greater than earned, until the expiration date of the last-to-expire
licensed patent or 12 years, whichever occurs last. We have recognized royalty revenue from this agreement of $50,000 and $64,000 for the
three month period ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Financial Operations Overview
Revenues
Our revenue consists primarily of licensing and royalty revenue as well as research revenue, which consists of fees for research services
from license or collaboration agreements. The upfront licensing fees received pursuant to our license agreements are deferred and are being
recognized in licensing and royalty revenue on a straight-line basis over a period which represents the estimated period of time over which our
involvement in the collaboration represents a substantive performance obligation. These fees under our collaboration agreement with BMS were
being recognized over a 30 month period. In September 2011, BMS extended the collaboration agreement for an additional six-month period and
the Company extended the amortization period to 36 months. Upfront licensing fees under our license agreement with Norgine are being
recognized over 31 months. Revenue for research services provided under our collaboration agreement with BMS is recognized in research
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revenue as such services are performed. Royalty revenue from our agreement with Open Biosystems, Inc. is recognized in licensing and royalty
revenue as applicable products are sold.
In the future, we may generate revenue from product sales, upfront licensing fees and milestone payments from collaborations, and
royalties from the sale of products commercialized under licenses of our intellectual property. We do not expect to generate any significant
revenue unless or until we commercialize our product candidates or reach milestones contained in our collaboration agreements. We expect that
our revenue will fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result of the timing and amount of licensing and milestone payments received, research
and development reimbursements for collaborative agreements, and other payments received from partnerships. If we or our strategic partners
fail to complete the development of our drug candidates in a timely manner or obtain regulatory approval for them, our ability to generate future
revenue from product sales and milestones payments or royalties from product sales may adversely affect our results of operations and financial
position.
Research and Development
We expense research and development costs as they are incurred. Research and development expenses consist of expenses incurred in
the discovery and development of our product candidates, and primarily include:
•

expenses, including salaries, benefits and non-cash share-based compensation expenses for research and development personnel;

•

expenses incurred under third party agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs, investigative sites and consultants
in conducting clinical trials;

•

costs of acquiring and manufacturing clinical trial supplies;

•

costs associated with our discovery efforts and preclinical activities;

•

costs associated with non-clinical activities and regulatory submissions; and

•

costs associated with the maintenance and protection of our intellectual property.

Direct development expenses and certain indirect overhead expenses associated with our research and development activities are
allocated to our product candidates. The allocation of indirect overhead is based on management’s estimate of the use of such resources on a
program-by-program basis. Indirect costs related to our research and development activities that are not allocated to a product candidate,
including salaries and benefits for our clinical development personnel, and costs associated with the development of our preclinical product
candidates and in support of our discovery collaboration are included in “Other research and development expenses” in the table below.
The following table presents our research and development expenses for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Three Months
Ended March 31,
2012

ulimorelin
TZP-102
Other research and development expenses

$

$

2011

3,457 $
2,583
2,100
8,140 $

2,330
587
1,584
4,501

We expect to fund our research and development expenses from our current cash and cash equivalents, from milestones and costsharing reimbursement payments received from collaboration agreements, if any, and potentially, additional financing transactions or
collaboration arrangements.
Operating losses may be incurred over the next several years as we complete the development and seek regulatory approval for our
primary, clinical stage product candidate, TZP-102, or other product candidates. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or know the nature,
specific timing and estimated costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete the development of our product candidates, or the period, if
any, in which material net cash inflows may commence from our
16

product candidates. This is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing our product candidates, including:
•

the need for, and the progress, costs and results of, any additional clinical trials of ulimorelin we may initiate based on the results of
our clinical trials or our discussions with regulatory agencies, including any additional trials the FDA, EMA or other regulatory
agencies may require evaluating the safety of ulimorelin

•

the progress, costs, results of and timing of our Phase 2b clinical trial of TZP-102 for treatment of diabetic gastroparesis and future
clinical trials of TZP-102;

•

the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory approval in the United States and abroad for our product candidates;

•

the FDA’s willingness to review our TZP-102 application under the fast track development program;

•

the costs of obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our patents and other intellectual property rights globally;

•

the costs and timing of obtaining or maintaining manufacturing for our product candidates, including commercial manufacturing if
any of our product candidates is approved;

•

the costs and timing of establishing sales and marketing capabilities in selected markets; and

•

the terms and timing of establishing collaborations, license agreements and other partnerships on terms favorable to us.

Our expenses related to clinical trials are based on estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with
multiple research institutions and clinical research organizations that conduct and manage clinical trials on our behalf. The financial terms of
these agreements are subject to negotiation and vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. Generally, these
agreements provide a fixed fee or unit price for services performed. Payments under the contracts depend on factors such as the successful
enrollment of patients or the achievement of clinical trial milestones. Expenses related to clinical trials generally are accrued based on services
performed at contractual amounts and the achievement of milestones such as number of patients enrolled. If timelines or contracts are modified
based upon changes to the clinical trial design or scope of work to be performed, we modify our estimates of accrued expenses accordingly on a
prospective basis.
A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of a product candidate could result in a significant
change in the costs and timing associated with the development of that product candidate. For example, if the FDA or other regulatory authority
were to require us to conduct clinical trials beyond those that we currently anticipate will be required for the completion of clinical development
of a product candidate, or if we experience significant delays in enrollment in any of our clinical trials, we could be required to expend
significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of clinical development.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation for employees in executive and administrative functions
including non-cash, share-based compensation expense, costs associated with our corporate infrastructure, and professional fees for business
development, commercialization activities and market research, accounting and legal services.
We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will continue to increase primarily for the following reasons:
•

increased expenses for sales and marketing activities in preparing for commercialization of our product candidates prior to
regulatory approval;

•

increased administrative personnel related expenses required to support our growth as we continue to develop our product
candidates; and

•

increased costs of operating as a public company including costs associated with regulatory compliance, corporate governance,
insurance and consulting fees for our legal, accounting and investor relations activities.
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Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest income consists of interest earned on our cash and cash equivalents.
Interest expense to date has consisted primarily of interest expense on convertible notes payable and long-term debt and the
amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs. We amortize debt issuance costs over the life of the notes which are reported as interest
expense in our statements of comprehensive income.
Other income and expense to date has primarily consisted of costs incurred from extinguishment of debt, changes in the fair value of
our warrant liability and gains and losses on foreign currency transactions primarily from purchases made by Tranzyme Pharma.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing
basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments related to preclinical, nonclinical and clinical development costs and drug manufacturing costs.
We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
We discussed accounting policies and assumptions that involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity within our Annual Report
filed on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2011. There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and
estimates as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 and 2011
Revenues
The following table summarizes our revenues for the three month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands, except
percentages):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

Licensing and royalties
Research revenue
Total

$
$

Increase
(Decrease)

2011

1,443
1,165
2,608

$
$

1,897
442
2,339

$
$

(454)
723
269

% Increase
(Decrease)

(24)%
164 %
12 %

The decrease in licensing revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2012, was primarily due a change in the amortization period for
deferred revenue from the upfront licensing fee received from our collaboration agreement with BMS, which totaled $570,000 for the three
month period ended March 31, 2012, as compared to $1.0 million for the three month period ended March 31, 2011. In September 2011, BMS
extended the collaboration agreement for a six-month period and the amortization period for the remaining BMS unamortized upfront licensing
fee was changed from 30 months to 36 months. The increase in research revenue was primarily due to an increase in reimbursable expenses for
our collaboration agreement with BMS including personnel costs (FTEs) and laboratory supplies.
Research and Development Expenses
The following table summarizes our research and development expenses for the three month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 (in
thousands, except percentages):
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Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

Research and development expenses

$

Increase
(Decrease)

2011

8,140

$

4,501

$

% Increase
(Decrease)

3,639

81%

The increase in research and development costs during the three months ended March 31, 2012 , was primarily due to expenses incurred
for our Phase 3 clinical trials and registration efforts for ulimorelin and our Phase 2b clinical trial for TZP-102. Costs related to ulimorelin
activities increased by approximately $1.1 million, primarily due to an increase in costs associated with the conduct our clinical trials. Costs
related to TZP-102 activities resulted in an increase in clinical trial expenses of approximately $2.0 million, primarily due to costs for activities
related to our on-going Phase 2b trial. Other research and development costs increased $500,000 including personnel costs and other
infrastructure expenses for our clinical development activities.
General and Administrative Expenses
The following table summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 (in
thousands, except percentages):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

General and administrative

$

Increase
(Decrease)

2011

1,948

$

971

$

% Increase
(Decrease)

977

101%

The increase in general and administrative expenses was due primarily to a $540,000 increase in personnel related expenses including
non-cash compensation for stock options, a $217,000 increase in consulting expenses related to our corporate governance activities including
legal and accounting fees and a $220,000 increase in other expenses including director and officer insurance and other taxes and fees.
Other Income (Expense), Net
The following table summarizes our other expense for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands, except
percentages):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

Interest expense, net
Other (expense) income
Total

$
$

Increase
(Decrease)

2011

(432) $
(508)
(940) $

(420) $
188
(232) $

% Increase
(Decrease)

12
696
708

3%
370%
305%

The increase in other expense for the period was primarily due to a $520,000 loss on early extinguishment of debt incurred with the
refinancing of our term loan in January 2012 and a decrease of $195,000 of other income for the change in the fair value of our warrant liability
which was outstanding as of March 31, 2011.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity
We have incurred losses since our inception and we anticipate that we will continue to incur losses for at least the next several years.
Historically, we have financed our operations primarily through private placements of common stock and convertible preferred stock, issuance
of convertible promissory notes to our stockholders, upfront payments from strategic partnerships, bank, other lender financing and development
grants from governmental authorities and our initial public offering. As of March 31, 2012 , we had $42.6 million in cash and cash equivalents.
Cash in excess of immediate requirements is invested in accordance with our investment policy primarily with a view to liquidity and capital
preservation. As of March 31, 2012 , our cash and cash equivalents funds are invested in money market funds which are currently providing only
a minimal return.
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On April 6, 2011, we completed an initial public offering of our common stock pursuant to a Registration Statement that was declared
effective on April 1, 2011. We sold 13,500,000 shares of our common stock, at a price to the public of $4.00 per share. The underwriters had 30
days to exercise their option to purchase up to an additional 1,481,250 shares at the initial public offering price per share pursuant to an overallotment option granted to the underwriters. On April 29, 2011, the underwriters partially exercised their over-allotment option and purchased
an additional 850,000 shares of our common stock resulting in aggregate gross proceeds of $3,400,000.
We raised approximately $51.4 million in net proceeds from the IPO after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $4.0
million and offering expenses of approximately $2.0 million after giving effect to the partial exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option.
On May 7, 2012, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for the issuance
and sale of up to $100.0 million of equity or other securities, proceeds from which will be used for general corporate purposes. Once effective,
the Form S-3 will provide additional financial flexibility for the Company to sell securities as needed at any time. The Form S-3 is not effective.

Cash Flows
The following table sets forth the primary sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

Cash Flow from Continuing Operations :
Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

$

$

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

2011

(6,815) $
(66)
8,538
(5)
1,652 $

(4,414)
(11)
(483)
14
(4,894)

During the three months ended March 31, 2012 , our operating activities used cash of $6.8 million , primarily due to our net losses and
changes in working capital, partially offset by non-cash charges including depreciation expense, share-based compensation expense and the
amortization of deferred revenue from our licensing agreements. The increase in cash used in operations during the three months ended
March 31, 2012 , as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2011, was primarily due to Phase 3 clinical trial activities for ulimorelin and
Phase 2b clinical trial activities for TZP-102. Cash provided by operations for the three months ended March 31, 2012 included $9.3 million of
net term loan proceeds offset by principal payments on our outstanding loan.
Credit Facilities
On September 30, 2010, we entered into a term loan and security agreement with Oxford Finance Corporation, or Oxford, and Compass
Horizon Funding Company, now Horizon Finance Corporation, or Horizon, for $13.0 million. The annual interest rate was 10.75%. The loan
was to mature on January 1, 2014 and required interest only payments for the first nine months and principal and interest payments for the
following 30 months. Principal payments on the loan began in August 2011. Upon payment of the final monthly installment of the loan, or the
remaining balance in the case of a prepayment, we would have paid an end-of-term fee of approximately $520,000. In addition, in the event of
prepayment we would have paid a prepayment fee ranging from 3% to 1%, based on time to maturity, of the principal amount of the loan at the
time of repayment.
On January 31, 2012, we entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with Horizon and Oxford. The amended
and restated loan agreement amends and restates the terms of the September 2010 loan and security agreement in its entirety, and provided us
with approximately $9.3 million of additional net loan proceeds. We used a portion of the approximately $13.4 million of new proceeds received
at the closing of the amended and restated loan agreement to repay approximately $4.1 million of outstanding principal under the September
2010 loan agreement. Under the amended and restated loan agreement, we will make interest-only payments through February 1, 2013, and then
will be required to make 30 monthly principal and interest payments to fully amortize the loan. The annual interest rate on the loan was reset to
10.0%. In addition, approximately $6.6 million of 2010 Notes were reamortizied to follow the same interest-only period followed by the same 30
monthly principal and interest payments as the new loan. Upon payment of the final monthly installment of the loan,
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or the remaining balance in the case of a prepayment, we will pay an end-of-term fee of $1.0 million. In addition, in the event of prepayment we
will pay a prepayment fee ranging from 6% to 1%, based on time to maturity, of the principal amount of the loan at the time of repayment. As of
March 31, 2012, $20.0 million of principal remains outstanding on the loan.
The amended and restated loan agreement is secured by our assets, excluding our intellectual property and also contains certain covenants,
including limitations on our ability to transfer assets, engage in any change of control transaction, incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends,
make investments and engage in transactions with affiliates. Upon an event of default, the lenders may declare the unpaid principal amount of all
outstanding loans and interest accrued under the loan and security agreement to be immediately due and payable, and exercise their security
interests and other rights under the credit agreement. As of March 31, 2012, we believe we were in compliance with the covenants under the
amended and restated loan agreement.
In connection with the $9.3 million in additional loan proceeds received under the amended and restated loan agreement, we issued to
Oxford, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 100,545 shares of common stock and to Horizon, a warrant to purchase 62,943 shares of common
stock. The exercise price for each warrant is $3.67 per share. The warrants are immediately exercisable, and excluding certain mergers or
acquisitions, will expire on January 30, 2022.
Capital Resources and Funding Requirements
We expect to continue to incur substantial operating losses in the future and that our operating expenses will increase as we continue
developing our product candidates and operate as a public company. We will require substantial amounts of capital in the future for clinical trials
and regulatory and commercialization activities for our products.
Our IPO of common stock was effected through a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-170749) that was declared effective
by the SEC on April 1, 2011, which registered an aggregate of 13,500,000 shares of our common stock at an aggregate gross offering price to the
public of $54,000,000. All of the 13,500,000 shares of common stock registered under the Registration Statement were sold at a price to the
public of $4.00 per share. The offering closed on April 6, 2011. The underwriters partially exercised their over-allotment option on April 29,
2011, and purchased an additional 850,000 shares of our common stock resulting in aggregate gross proceeds of $3,400,000.
Net proceeds received in the offering were approximately $51.4 million, after underwriting fees and estimated offering expenses of
approximately $6.0 million. Costs directly associated with our IPO were capitalized and recorded as deferred IPO costs prior to the closing of
the IPO. These costs were recorded as a reduction of the proceeds received in arriving at the amount recorded in additional paid-in capital.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with the net proceeds received from our IPO, will be sufficient to fund our
anticipated operating requirements into the fourth quarter of 2013 . We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong
resulting in the use of our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties
associated with the development and commercialization of our product candidates, including our ability to enter into collaborations with third
parties to participate in development and commercialization of our product candidates, we are unable to estimate the amount of increased capital
required to become profitable. Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including:
•

the scope, progress and results of our clinical trials for ulimorelin and TZP-102;

•

the costs and timing involved in obtaining regulatory approvals for our product candidates;

•

the market acceptance of our product candidates, if approved, and related success in commercializing and generating sales from our
product candidates if approved by the regulatory authorities;

•

the costs of developing manufacturing capabilities to support our commercialization activities;

•

the costs of maintaining, expanding and protecting our intellectual property portfolio, including potential litigation costs and
liabilities;

•

the number and characteristics of product candidates that we pursue;

•

the timing and amount of payments received under new or existing strategic collaboration agreements, if any, including upfront
payments, milestone payments and royalties;
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•

the amount of cost sharing under new or existing strategic collaboration agreements, if any;

•

our ability to hire qualified employees at salary levels consistent with our estimates to support our growth and development,
including additional general and administrative personnel as a result of becoming a public company; and

•

the costs of developing internal sales, marketing and distribution capabilities.

Until we obtain regulatory approval to market our product candidates, if ever, we cannot generate revenues from sales of our products.
Even if we are able to sell our products, we may not generate a sufficient amount of product revenues to finance our cash requirements.
Accordingly, we may need to obtain additional financing in the future which may include public or private debt and equity financings, entering
into product and technology collaboration agreements or licenses and asset sales. There can be no assurance that additional capital will be
available when needed on acceptable terms, or at all. The issuance of equity securities may result in dilution to stockholders. If we raise
additional funds through the issuance of debt securities, these securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our
common stock and the terms of the debt securities could impose significant restrictions on our operations. If we raise additional funds through
collaborations and licensing arrangements, we might be required to relinquish significant rights to our technologies or products, or grant licenses
on terms that are not favorable to us. If adequate funds are not available, we may have to scale back our operations or limit our research and
development activities, which would have a material adverse impact on our business prospects and results of operations.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued updated accounting guidance related to the presentation of comprehensive
income. This guidance requires that all non-owner changes in stockholders’ equity be presented either in a single continuous statement of
comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. This guidance is effective for our interim and annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on our consolidated results of operations,
financial position, or liquidity.
Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency Risk
We incur a substantial amount of our research and development expenses through our Canadian subsidiary. In addition, we contract with
third-party providers to manufacture product and to conduct clinical trials and perform other research and development activities in Europe.
Accordingly, we are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates in connection with the liabilities incurred by us in these
relationships. Pursuant to the terms of a strategic collaboration agreement we entered into in June 2010 with Norgine, the calculation of certain
milestone payments and royalty payments, when earned, may be impacted by fluctuations in foreign exchange rates thereby impacting the
amount of revenue we ultimately recognize from these payments. In addition, product revenues, if any, are expected to be generated from
worldwide sales in various currencies. We do not currently hedge our exposures to foreign currency fluctuations.
Market Risk
Our cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2012 consisted primarily of cash and money market funds. Our primary exposure to market
risk is interest income sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of United States interest rates. However, because of the shortterm nature of the instruments in our portfolio, a sudden change in market interest rates would not be expected to have a material impact on our
financial condition and/or results of operations.
Interest Risk
The interest rates on our notes payable are fixed. Therefore, we are not exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates as it relates to
these interest-bearing obligations.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, evaluated, as of the end of the period covered
by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)). In designing and evaluating the
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible
controls and procedures relative to their costs. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report were effective to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.
Changes to Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
during the period covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings

We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
The following risks and uncertainties, together with all other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our
consolidated financial statements and related notes, should be considered carefully. Any of the risk factors we describe below could adversely
affect our business, financial condition or results of operations, and could cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate or decline.

Risks Related to the Development, Regulatory Approval and Commercialization of our Product Candidates
In light of the results and analysis of the first of our two Phase 3 pivotal trials of ulimorelin, ULISES 007, it is unlikely that the second Phase
3 pivotal trial of ulimorelin, ULISES 008, will yield positive results.
On March 12, 2012, we announced, along with our development partner, Norgine B.V., or Norgine, the top-line results of the primary
analysis of ULISES 007, the first of two Phase 3 pivotal trials evaluating ulimorelin. The trial failed to meet its primary and secondary efficacy
endpoints. The results of ULISES 007 showed that ulimorelin , at both 160 and 480 micrograms/kg doses, was not statistically different from
placebo for the primary endpoint, the time to recovery of GI function as defined by the time from the end of surgery to GI2. GI2 is defined as the
later of first bowel movement and tolerance of solid food.
Given the similarity of the two trials, we do not expect the results of our ULISES 008 trial of ulimorelin to be significantly different from
those of ULISES 007. While we are still planning to analyze the data from the second Phase 3 clinical trial, ULISES 008, which we expect by
the end of the second quarter, we are stopping all other New Drug Application or NDA, related activities for ulimorelin. In the event of positive
results on ULISES 008, we will explore ways to best further develop and commercialize ulimorelin .
In light of the results of our Phase 3 trial of ulimorelin, our near-term success is primarily dependent on the success of our other clinical
stage product candidate, TZP-102, which is in Phase 2b clinical development. Our other product candidates are in the preclinical research
stage. We cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize, any of our product
candidates.
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We have invested a significant portion of our time and financial resources in the development of our clinical stage product candidates,
ulimorelin for acceleration of postoperative gastrointestinal (GI) recovery, and TZP-102 for the treatment of diabetic gastroparesis. In the future,
we plan to invest the substantial majority of our resources in TZP-102, and, in light of the results of our first phase 3 clinical trial of ulimorelin ,
are stopping all NDA related activities for ulimorelin . We have also invested a significant amount of time and financial resources in the
development of our other product candidates, TZP-201 and TZP-301. We anticipate that our success will depend largely on the receipt of
regulatory approval and successful commercialization of these product candidates, particularly our primary clinical stage product candidate,
TZP-102. The future regulatory and commercial success of these product candidates is subject to a number of risks, including the following:
•

we may not be able to provide acceptable evidence of their safety and efficacy;

•

the results of our ongoing and planned clinical trials may not confirm the positive results of earlier clinical trials;

•

the results of our clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical or clinical significance required by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration, or FDA, European Medicines Agency, or EMA, or other regulatory agencies for marketing approval;

•

the dosing of our product candidate in a particular clinical trial may not be at an optimal level;

•

patients in our clinical trials may die or suffer other adverse effects for reasons that may or may not be related to the product
candidate being tested;

•

competing products may be approved for marketing by the FDA and EMA and any other similar foreign regulatory authorities;

•

we may not be able to obtain, maintain and enforce our patents and other intellectual property rights; and

•

we may not be able to obtain and maintain commercial manufacturing arrangements with third-party manufacturers or establish
commercial-scale manufacturing capabilities.

Of the large number of drugs in development, only a small percentage result in the submission of an NDA to the FDA and even fewer are
approved for commercialization. Furthermore, even if we do receive regulatory approval to market a commercial product, any such approval
may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which we may market the product.
Favorable results in our Phase 2 clinical trial of TZP-102 for the treatment of diabetic gastroparesis may not be predictive of the safety and
efficacy results in our Phase 2b clinical trial of TZP-102 for the treatment of diabetic gastroparesis.
Although our proof of concept Phase 2 clinical trial of TZP-102 for the treatment of diabetic gastroparesis showed statistically significant
results against clinically meaningful endpoints, we will not have the same primary endpoints or reporting instrument in our Phase 2b clinical
trial. The Phase 2 trial only showed significant difference between active and placebo in secondary end points, which now comprise the primary
endpoint of the Phase 2b trial. The primary endpoint for our Phase 2b trial is, based upon our meeting with the FDA in November 2010, a
composite of clinically relevant, patient-reported symptoms measured by a reporting instrument with a shorter recall period. While we observed
statistically significant improvements in these clinically relevant symptoms in our Phase 2 trial, we cannot assure you that our Phase 2b trial will
achieve positive results. A number of factors could contribute to a lack of favorable safety and efficacy results in our Phase 2b clinical trial. For
example:
•

a multinational, multicenter trial could result in increased variability due to varying patient characteristics including demographic
factors, health status, underlying reason for disease state and concomitant medications; and

•

an extended length of treatment period could results in changes in safety and efficacy results.

If we are not able to obtain required regulatory approvals for ulimorelin, TZP-102 or our other product candidates, we will not be able to
commercialize them and our ability to generate revenue will be limited.
We have not submitted an NDA or received regulatory approval to market for any of our product candidates in any
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jurisdiction. We have only limited experience in filing the applications necessary to gain regulatory approvals and expect to rely on consultants
and third party contract research organizations to assist us in this process. Securing FDA approval requires the submission of extensive
preclinical and clinical data, information about product manufacturing processes and inspection of facilities and supporting information to the
FDA for each therapeutic indication to establish each product candidate’s safety and efficacy. Our product candidates, and any future product
candidates, may not be effective, may be only moderately effective or may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or
other characteristics that may preclude our obtaining regulatory approval or prevent or limit commercial use.
Our product candidates and the activities associated with their development and commercialization, including their testing, manufacture,
safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale and distribution, are subject to comprehensive regulation
by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States and by comparable authorities in other countries. We are not permitted to market
ulimorelin , TZP-102, TZP-201 or TZP-301 in the United States until we receive approval of an NDA for the product candidate in a particular
indication from the FDA. Failure to obtain regulatory marketing approval for a product candidate will prevent us from commercializing the
product candidate, and our ability to generate revenue will be materially impaired.
The process of obtaining regulatory approvals is expensive, often takes many years, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially
based upon, among other things, the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved. Changes in the regulatory approval policy
during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, or changes in regulatory review for a submitted
product application, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. Regulatory approval obtained in one jurisdiction does not
necessarily mean that a product candidate will receive regulatory approval in all jurisdictions in which we may seek approval.
We have completed a Phase 2, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in 92 subjects which evaluated TZP-102 in diabetic patients with
gastroparesis over a 28-day period. We initiated a Phase 2b trial in diabetic gastroparesis patients in September 2011. We cannot guarantee that
our future trials will be successful or that regulators will agree with our assessment of the preclinical studies and clinical trials we have
conducted to date. The FDA, EMA and other regulators have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any
application or may decide that our data is insufficient for approval and require additional clinical trials, or preclinical or other studies. In
addition, varying interpretation of the data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval of a
product candidate. Any regulatory approval we ultimately obtain may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that
render the product not commercially viable.
Even if we receive regulatory approval for one of our product candidates, we still may not be able to successfully commercialize it and the
revenue that we generate from its sales, if any, will be limited.
The commercial success of any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval from the FDA or other regulatory authorities
will depend upon the acceptance of such product by the medical community, including physicians, patients and health care payors. The degree of
market acceptance of any of our product candidates will depend on a number of factors, including:
•

demonstration of clinical safety and efficacy compared to other products;

•

relative convenience and ease of administration;

•

the prevalence and severity of any adverse effects;

•

limitations or warnings contained in a product’s FDA-approved labeling;

•

availability of alternative treatments, including, metoclopramide , erythromycin and domperidone and any new products that may in
the future become available to treat indications for which TZP-102 may be approved;

•

new procedures or methods of treatment that may reduce the incidences of any of the indications in which our product candidates
may show utility;

•

pricing and cost-effectiveness;

•

the effectiveness of our or any future collaborators’ sales and marketing strategies;
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•

our ability to obtain and maintain sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement from government health care programs,
including Medicare and Medicaid, private health insurers and other third-party payors; and

•

the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of third-party coverage.

If our product candidates are approved, but do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, health care payors and patients,
we may not generate sufficient revenue from these products, and we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability. Our efforts to educate the
medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of our product candidates may require significant resources and may never be
successful. In addition, our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates will depend on our ability to manufacture our products,
differentiate our products from competing products and defend the intellectual property of our products.
It will be difficult for us to profitably sell any of our product candidates if reimbursement is limited.
Market acceptance and sales of our product candidates will depend on reimbursement policies and may be affected by healthcare reform
measures. Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which
medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost
containment. Government authorities and these third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of
reimbursement for particular medications. Increasingly, third-party payors have been challenging the prices charged for products. They may also
refuse to provide any coverage of uses of approved products for medical indications other than those for which the FDA has granted marketing
approval. This trend may impact the reimbursement for treatments for GI disorders especially, as physicians typically focus on symptoms rather
than underlying conditions when treating patients with these disorders and drugs are often prescribed for uses outside of their approved
indications. In instances where alternative products are available, it may be required that those alternative treatment options are tried before
reimbursement is available for our products. We cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for our product candidates and, if
reimbursement is available, the level of reimbursement. Reimbursement may impact the demand for, or the price of, any product for which we
obtain marketing approval. In addition, in certain foreign countries, particularly the countries of the European Union, the pricing of prescription
pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. If reimbursement is not available or is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to
successfully commercialize our product candidates.
We have limited sales, marketing or distribution experience and we will have to invest significant resources to develop those capabilities.
We have limited sales, marketing or distribution experience. To develop internal sales, distribution and marketing capabilities, we will have
to invest significant amounts of financial and management resources, some of which will be committed prior to any confirmation that TZP-102
or any other of our product candidates will be approved. For product candidates where we decide to perform sales, marketing and distribution
functions ourselves, we could face a number of additional risks, including:
•

we may not be able to attract and build an effective marketing or sales force;

•

the cost of establishing a marketing or sales force may exceed the revenues generated by any products; and

•

our direct sales and marketing efforts may not be successful.

We have entered into an agreement with Norgine to assist in the development and commercialization of ulimorelin outside the United
States, if approved, and may elect to seek other strategic partners for our products. We may have limited or no control over the sales, marketing
and distribution activities of these third parties. Our future revenues may depend heavily on the success of the efforts of these third parties.
Federal legislation and actions by state and local governments may permit re-importation of drugs from foreign countries into the United
States, including foreign countries where the drugs are sold at lower prices than in the United States, which could materially adversely affect
our operating results and our overall financial condition.
We may face competition in the United States for our product candidates, if approved, from lower priced products from foreign countries
that have placed price controls on pharmaceutical products. This risk may be particularly applicable to drugs such as TZP-102 that are
formulated for oral delivery and expected to command a premium price. The U.S. Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization
Act of 2003, or the MMA, contains provisions that may change U.S.
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importation laws and expand pharmacists’ and wholesalers’ ability to import lower priced versions of an approved drug and competing products
from Canada, where there are government price controls. These changes to U.S. importation laws will not take effect unless and until the
Secretary of Health and Human Services certifies that the changes will pose no additional risk to the public’s health and safety and will result in
a significant reduction in the cost of products to consumers. The Secretary of Health and Human Services has not yet announced any plans to
make this required certification.
A number of federal legislative proposals have been made to implement the changes to the U.S. importation laws without any certification,
and to broaden permissible imports in other ways. Even if the changes do not take effect, and other changes are not enacted, imports from
Canada and elsewhere may continue to increase due to market and political forces, and the limited enforcement resources of the FDA, U.S.
Customs and Border Protection and other government agencies. For example, the Department of Homeland Security Appropriations Act, 2010,
expressly prohibits U.S. Customs and Border Protection from using funds to prevent individuals from importing from Canada less than a 90-day
supply of a prescription drug for personal use, when the drug otherwise complies with the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA.
Further, several states and local governments have implemented importation schemes for their citizens, and, in the absence of federal action to
curtail such activities, we expect other states and local governments to launch importation efforts.
The importation of foreign products that compete with any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval could
negatively impact our revenue and profitability, possibly materially.
We rely and will continue to rely on outsourcing arrangements for certain of our activities, including clinical research of our product
candidates and manufacturing of the compounds and product candidates.
We rely on outsourcing arrangements for some of our activities, including manufacturing, preclinical and clinical research, data collection
and analysis. We may have limited control over these third parties and we cannot guarantee that they will perform their obligations in an
effective and timely manner.
The manufacture of pharmaceutical products requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of advanced
manufacturing techniques and process controls. We do not own or operate manufacturing facilities for the production of any of our product
candidates, nor do we have plans to develop our own manufacturing operations in the foreseeable future. We currently depend on third-party
contract manufacturers for all of our required raw materials, drug substance and drug product for our preclinical research and clinical trials. Any
performance failure on the part of our existing or future manufacturers, or termination of our existing manufacturer relationships, could delay
clinical development or regulatory approval of our product candidates. Although we believe there are a number of potential replacement
manufacturers for our product candidates, we may incur added costs and delays in identifying and qualifying any such replacements because the
FDA must approve any replacement manufacturer prior to manufacturing our product candidates. Such approval would require new testing and
compliance inspections which could result in significant additional costs to us and delays in regulatory approval of our product candidates.
We do not have any current contractual relationships for the manufacture of commercial supplies of any of our product candidates and the
current manufacturers of our product candidates may not have the capacity to serve commercial demand. If any of our product candidates are
approved for sale by any regulatory agency, we intend to enter into agreements with third-party contract manufacturers for the commercial
production of those products. The number of third-party manufacturers with the expertise, required regulatory approvals and facilities to
manufacture bulk drug substance on a commercial scale is limited.
In addition, our reliance on third party contract research organizations, or CROs, and contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs,
entails further risks including, but not limited to:
•

non-compliance by third parties with regulatory and quality control standards;

•

breach by third parties of our agreements with them;

•

termination or non-renewal of an agreement with third parties; and

•

sanctions imposed by regulatory authorities if compounds supplied or manufactured by a third party supplier or manufacturer fail to
comply with applicable regulatory standards.

If any of our current strategic partners fails to perform its obligations or terminates or fails to renew its agreement with us, the development
and commercialization of the product candidates under such agreement could be delayed or terminated and our business could be
substantially harmed.
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We currently have strategic partnerships in place relating to certain of our product candidates and technologies. We entered into a license
agreement with Norgine regarding the development and commercialization of ulimorelin for the potential acceleration of postoperative GI
recovery and other diseases and disorders in Europe, Australia, New Zealand, Middle East, North Africa and South Africa. We entered into a
strategic collaboration with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, or BMS, primarily focused on the identification and optimization of novel drug
compounds for certain targets of interest to BMS. These strategic partnerships may not be scientifically or commercially successful due to a
number of important factors, including the following:
•

BMS and Norgine have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that each will apply to their strategic
relationship with us. The timing and amount of any cash payments, milestones and royalties that we may receive under such
agreements will depend on, among other things, the efforts, allocation of resources and successful development and
commercialization of our product candidates by BMS and Norgine under their respective agreements.

•

Our agreement with BMS provides it with wide discretion in deciding which novel compounds to advance through the clinical
development process. It is possible for BMS to reject certain compounds at any point in the research, development and clinical trial
process without triggering a termination of their agreement with us. In the event of any such decision, our business and prospects
may be adversely affected due to our inability to progress such compounds ourselves.

•

BMS or Norgine may develop and commercialize, either alone or with others, or be acquired by a company that has, products that
are similar to or competitive with the product candidates that they license from us.

•

BMS or Norgine may change the focus of their development and commercialization efforts or pursue higher-priority programs.

•

BMS or Norgine may, under specified circumstances, terminate their strategic partnership with us on short notice and for
circumstances outside of our control, which could make it difficult for us to attract new strategic partners or adversely affect how
we are perceived in the scientific and financial communities.

•

BMS and Norgine have, under certain circumstances, the first right to maintain or defend our intellectual property rights licensed to
them, and, although we may have the right to assume the maintenance and defense of our intellectual property rights if our strategic
partners do not, our ability to do so may be compromised by our strategic partners’ acts or omissions.

•

BMS or Norgine may utilize our intellectual property rights in such a way as to invite litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate
our intellectual property rights or expose us to potential liability.

•

BMS or Norgine may not comply with all applicable regulatory requirements, or fail to report safety data in accordance with all
applicable regulatory requirements.

•

BMS may choose not to extend the research term, during which it funds full-time equivalent costs and other research expenses,
when the current research term expires in September 2012.

If BMS fails to develop or effectively commercialize novel compounds for any of the foregoing reasons, or if Norgine elects to terminate
our agreement relating to ulimorelin in light of the data of our first Phase 3 clinical trial, we may not be able to replace the strategic partner with
another partner. We may also be unable to obtain, on terms acceptable to us, a license from such strategic partner to any of its intellectual
property that may be necessary or useful for us to continue to develop and commercialize a product candidate. Any of these events could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and our ability to achieve future profitability, and could cause our stock price to
decline.
We may encounter difficulties in managing our growth and expanding our operations successfully.
As we seek to advance our product candidates through clinical trials, we will need to expand our development, regulatory, manufacturing,
marketing and sales capabilities or contract with third parties to provide these capabilities for us. As our operations expand, we expect that we
will need to manage additional relationships with various strategic partners, suppliers and other third parties. Future growth will impose
significant added responsibilities on members of management. Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize our product
candidates and to compete effectively will depend, in part,
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on our ability to manage any future growth effectively. To that end, we must be able to manage our development efforts and clinical trials
effectively and hire, train and integrate additional management, administrative and sales and marketing personnel. We may not be able to
accomplish these tasks, and our failure to accomplish any of them could prevent us from successfully growing our company.
A variety of risks associated with our planned international business relationships could materially adversely affect our business.
We have entered into an agreement with Norgine for the development of ulimorelin , and we may enter into agreements with other third
parties for the development and commercialization of ulimorelin or our other product candidates, in international markets. International business
relationships subject us to additional risks, including:
•

differing regulatory requirements for drug approvals in foreign countries;

•

potentially reduced protection for intellectual property rights;

•

potential third party patent rights in foreign countries;

•

the potential for so-called parallel importing, which is what happens when a local seller, faced with high or higher local prices, opts
to import goods from a foreign market, with low or lower prices, rather than buying them locally;

•

unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers and regulatory requirements;

•

economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability, particularly in foreign economies and markets;

•

compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees traveling abroad;

•

foreign taxes;

•

foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenue, and other obligations
incident to doing business in another country;

•

workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;

•

production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and

•

business interruptions resulting from geo-political actions, including war and terrorism, or natural disasters, including earthquakes,
volcanoes, typhoons, floods, hurricanes and fires.

These and other risks of international business relationships may materially adversely affect our ability to attain or sustain profitable
operations.
We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before, or more
successfully, than we do.
Our future success depends on our ability to demonstrate and maintain a competitive advantage with respect to the design, development
and commercialization of product candidates. Our objective is to design, develop and commercialize new products with superior efficacy,
convenience, tolerability or safety. We expect any product candidate that we commercialize with our strategic partners or on our own will
compete with existing, market-leading products. For example, we anticipate that TZP-102, if approved for the treatment of diabetic
gastroparesis, would compete directly with metoclopramide , erythromycin and domperidone each of which is available under various trade
names sold by several major pharmaceutical companies.
Many of our potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and personnel resources than we have. In addition, many
of these competitors have significantly greater commercial infrastructures than we have. We will not be able to compete successfully unless we
successfully:
•

design and develop products that are superior to other products in the market;
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•

attract qualified scientific, medical, sales and marketing and commercial personnel;

•

obtain patent and/or other proprietary protection for our processes and product candidates;

•

obtain required regulatory approvals; and

•

collaborate with others in the design, development and commercialization of new products.

Established competitors may invest heavily to quickly discover and develop novel compounds that could make our product candidates
obsolete. In addition, any new product that competes with an approved product must demonstrate compelling advantages in efficacy,
convenience, tolerability and safety in order to overcome price competition and to be commercially successful. If we are not able to compete
effectively against our current and future competitors, our business will not grow and our financial condition and operations will suffer.
If we fail to attract and retain senior management and key scientific personnel, we may be unable to successfully develop our product
candidates, conduct our clinical trials and commercialize our product candidates.
Our success depends in part on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified management, clinical and scientific
personnel. We are highly dependent upon our senior management, as well as other senior scientists and members of our management team. The
loss of services of any of these individuals or one or more of our other members of senior management could delay or prevent the successful
development of our product pipeline, completion of our ongoing or planned clinical trials or the commercialization of our product candidates.
We do not have employment agreements with any members of our senior management other than Vipin Garg, our President and Chief Executive
Officer. We carry “key person” insurance only on our President and Chief Executive Officer.
We need to hire and retain qualified personnel for the development, manufacture and commercialization of drugs. We could experience
problems in the future attracting and retaining qualified employees. For example, competition for qualified personnel in the biotechnology and
pharmaceuticals field is intense. We will need to hire additional personnel as we expand our clinical development and commercial activities. We
may not be able to attract and retain quality personnel on acceptable terms who have the expertise we need to sustain and grow our business.
If we engage in an acquisition, reorganization or business combination, we will incur a variety of risks that could adversely affect our
business operations or our stockholders.
From time to time we have considered, and we will continue to consider in the future, strategic business initiatives intended to further the
development of our business. These initiatives may include acquiring businesses, technologies or products or entering into a business
combination with another company. If we do pursue such a strategy, we could, among other things:
•

issue equity securities that would dilute our current stockholders’ percentage ownership;

•

incur substantial debt that may place strains on our operations;

•

spend substantial operational, financial and management resources in integrating new businesses, technologies and products;

•

assume substantial actual or contingent liabilities;

•

reprioritize our development programs and even cease development and commercialization of our product candidates; or

•

merge with, or otherwise enter into a business combination with, another company in which our stockholders would receive cash or
shares of the other company or a combination of both on terms that certain of our stockholders may not deem desirable.

Although we intend to evaluate and consider acquisitions, reorganizations and business combinations in the future, we have no agreements
or understandings with respect to any acquisition, reorganization or business combination at this time.
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Risks Related to Marketing Approval and Other Government Regulations
The FDA may impose requirements on our clinical trials that are difficult to comply with, which could harm our business.
The requirements that the FDA may impose on clinical trials for our product candidates are uncertain. As a result, we cannot assure you
that we will be able to comply with such requirements. For example, the FDA may require endpoints in our late-stage clinical trials that are
different from or in addition to the endpoints in our early-stage clinical trials or the endpoints which we may propose. The endpoints or other
trial elements, including sample size, dose selection and level at which clinical meaningfulness is achieved, that the FDA requires may make it
less likely that our Phase 3 clinical trials are successful or may delay completion of the trials. If we are unable to comply with the FDA’s
requirements, we will not be able to get approval for our product candidates and our business will suffer.
Any termination or suspension of, or delays in the commencement or completion of, clinical testing of our product candidates could result in
increased costs to us, delay or limit our ability to generate revenue and adversely affect our commercial prospects.
Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical testing could significantly affect our product development costs. We do not know
whether planned clinical trials will begin on time or planned or ongoing trials will be completed on schedule, if at all. The commencement and
completion of clinical trials can be delayed for a number of reasons, including delays related to:
•

the FDA failing to grant permission to proceed and placing the clinical trial on hold;

•

the FDA’s willingness to review our TZP-102 application under the fast track development program;

•

subjects failing to enroll or remain in our trials at the rate we expect;

•

a facility manufacturing our product candidates being ordered by the FDA or other government or regulatory authorities to
temporarily or permanently shut down due to violations of current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, or other applicable
requirements, or infections or cross-contaminations of product candidates in the manufacturing process;

•

any changes to our manufacturing process that may be necessary or desired;

•

subjects choosing an alternative treatment for the indications for which we are developing our product candidates, or participating
in competing clinical trials;

•

subjects experiencing severe or unexpected drug-related adverse effects;

•

reports from preclinical or clinical testing on similar technologies and products raising safety and/or efficacy concerns;

•

third-party clinical investigators losing their license or permits necessary to perform our clinical trials, not performing our clinical
trials on our anticipated schedule or consistent with the clinical trial protocol, Good Clinical Practice and regulatory requirements,
or other third parties not performing data collection and analysis in a timely or accurate manner;

•

inspections of clinical trial sites by the FDA or institutional review boards, or IRBs, finding regulatory violations that require us to
undertake corrective action, result in suspension or termination of one or more sites or the imposition of a clinical hold on the entire
trial, or that prohibit us from using some or all of the data in support of our marketing applications;

•

third-party contractors becoming debarred or suspended or otherwise penalized by the FDA or other government or regulatory
authorities for violations of regulatory requirements, in which case we may need to find a substitute contractor, and we may not be
able to use some or any of the data produced by such contractors in support of our marketing applications; or

•

one or more IRBs refusing to approve, suspending or terminating the trial at an investigational site, precluding
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enrollment of additional subjects, or withdrawing its approval of the trial.
Product development costs will increase if we have delays in testing or approval of our product candidates or if we need to perform more or
larger clinical trials than planned. Additionally, changes in regulatory requirements and policies may occur and we may need to amend clinical
trial protocols to reflect these changes. Amendments may require us to resubmit our clinical trial protocols to IRBs for reexamination, which
may impact the costs, timing or successful completion of a clinical trial. If we experience delays in completion of or if we, the FDA or other
regulatory authorities, the IRB, or other reviewing entities, or any of our clinical trial sites suspend or terminate any of our clinical trials, the
commercial prospects for our product candidate may be harmed and our ability to generate product revenues will be delayed. In addition, many
of the factors that cause, or lead to, termination or suspension of, or a delay in the commencement or completion of, clinical trials may also
ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of a product candidate. Also if one or more clinical trials are delayed, our competitors may be
able to bring products to market before we do, and the commercial viability of our product candidates could be significantly reduced.
Final marketing approval of our product candidates by the FDA or other regulatory authorities for commercial use may be delayed, limited,
or denied, any of which would adversely affect our ability to generate operating revenues.
After the completion of our clinical trials, we cannot predict whether or when we will obtain regulatory approval to commercialize our
product candidates and we cannot, therefore, predict the timing of any future revenue from these product candidates. Ulimorelin and TZP-102
are ghrelin receptor agonists. There are no FDA-approved ghrelin receptor agonists and the adverse effects from long-term exposure to this drug
class are unknown.
We cannot commercialize any of our product candidates until the appropriate regulatory authorities have reviewed and approved the
applications for the product candidates. We cannot assure you that the regulatory agencies will complete their review processes in a timely
manner or that we will obtain regulatory approval for any product candidate we develop. Satisfaction of regulatory requirements typically takes
many years, is dependent upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product and requires the expenditure of substantial resources. In addition,
we may experience delays or rejections based upon additional government regulation from future legislation or administrative action or changes
in FDA policy during the period of product development, clinical trials and FDA regulatory review.
If marketing approval for our product candidates is delayed, limited or denied, our ability to market products, and our ability to generate
product sales, would be adversely affected.
Any product for which we obtain marketing approval could be subject to restrictions or withdrawal from the market and we may be subject to
penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our product candidates, when
and if any of them are approved.
Even if U.S. regulatory approval is obtained, the FDA may still impose significant restrictions on a product’s indicated uses or marketing
or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly and time consuming post-approval studies, post-market surveillance or clinical trials. Our
product candidates will also be subject to ongoing FDA requirements governing the labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, safety
surveillance, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping and reporting of safety and other post-market information. In addition, manufacturers of
drug products and their facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for
compliance with cGMP requirements relating to quality control, quality assurance and corresponding maintenance of records and documents. If
we or a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency,
or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product, the manufacturing
facility or us, including requesting recall or withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of manufacturing.
If we, our product candidates or the manufacturing facilities for our product candidates fail to comply with applicable regulatory
requirements, a regulatory agency may:
•

issue warning letters or untitled letters;

•

seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines;

•

suspend or withdraw regulatory approval;

•

suspend any ongoing clinical trials;
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•

refuse to approve pending applications or supplements or applications filed by us;

•

suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or

•

seize or detain products, refuse to permit the import or export of product, or request us to initiate a product recall.

The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize our products and generate revenue.
The FDA has the authority to require a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy plan as part of an NDA or after approval, which may impose
further requirements or restrictions on the distribution or use of an approved drug, such as limiting prescribing to certain physicians or medical
centers that have undergone specialized training, limiting treatment to patients who meet certain safe-use criteria and requiring treated patients to
enroll in a registry.
In addition, if any of our product candidates are approved, our product labeling, advertising and promotion would be subject to regulatory
requirements and continuing regulatory review. The FDA strictly regulates the promotional claims that may be made about prescription
products. In particular, a product may not be promoted for uses that are not approved by the FDA as reflected in the product’s approved labeling.
If we receive marketing approval for our product candidates, physicians may nevertheless prescribe our products to their patients in a manner
that is inconsistent with the approved label. If we are found to have promoted such off-label uses, we may become subject to significant liability.
The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found
to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant sanctions. The federal government has levied large civil and criminal
fines against companies for alleged improper promotion and has enjoined several companies from engaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has
also requested that companies enter into consent decrees or permanent injunctions under which specified promotional conduct is changed or
curtailed.
Recently enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval of and commercialize our
product candidates and affect the prices we may obtain.
In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes
regarding the healthcare system that could prevent or delay marketing approval for our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval
activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval.
Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities
for pharmaceutical products. We are not sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations, guidance
or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on the marketing approvals of our product candidates, if any, may be. In
addition, increased scrutiny by the U.S. Congress of the FDA’s approval process may significantly delay or prevent marketing approval, as well
as subject us to more stringent product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements.
In the United States, the MMA changed the way Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceutical products. The legislation expanded
Medicare coverage for drug purchases by the elderly and introduced a new reimbursement methodology based on average sales prices for drugs.
In addition, this legislation authorized Medicare Part D prescription drug plans to use formularies where they can limit the number of drugs that
will be covered in any therapeutic class. As a result of this legislation and the expansion of federal coverage of drug products, we expect that
there will be additional pressure to contain and reduce costs. These cost reduction initiatives and other provisions of this legislation could
decrease the coverage and price that we receive for any approved products and could seriously harm our business. While the MMA applies only
to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own
reimbursement rates, and any reduction in reimbursement that results from the MMA may result in a similar reduction in payments from private
payors.
In March 2010, President Obama signed into law the Health Care Reform Law, a sweeping law intended to broaden access to health
insurance, reduce or constrain the growth of healthcare spending, enhance remedies against fraud and abuse, add new transparency requirements
for healthcare and health insurance industries, impose new taxes and fees on the health industry and impose additional health policy reforms.
Effective October 1, 2010, the Health Care Reform Law revised the definition of “average manufacturer price” for reporting purposes, which
could increase the amount of Medicaid drug rebates to states. Further, the new law imposed a significant annual fee on companies that
manufacture or import branded prescription
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drug products. Substantial new provisions affecting compliance have also been enacted, which may require us to modify our business practices
with healthcare practitioners. We will not know the full effects of the Health Care Reform Law until applicable federal and state agencies issue
regulations or guidance under the new law. Although it is too early to determine the effect of the Health Care Reform Law, the new law appears
likely to continue the pressure on pharmaceutical pricing, especially under the Medicare program, and may also increase our regulatory burdens
and operating costs.
Our future growth depends, in part, on our ability to penetrate foreign markets, where we are subject to additional regulatory burdens and
other risks and uncertainties. However, we have limited experience marketing and servicing our products outside North America.
Our future profitability will depend, in part, on our ability to grow and ultimately maintain our sales in foreign markets. We rely on third
parties, such as Norgine, to support our foreign operations.
Our foreign operations and any foreign operations we establish in the future subject us to additional risks and uncertainties, including:
•

our customers’ ability to obtain reimbursement for procedures using our products in foreign markets;

•

our inability to directly control commercial activities because we are relying on third parties who may not put the same priority on
our products as we would;

•

the burden of complying with complex and changing foreign regulatory, tax, accounting and legal requirements;

•

different medical practices and customs in foreign countries affecting acceptance in the marketplace;

•

import or export licensing requirements;

•

longer accounts receivable collection times;

•

longer lead times for shipping;

•

language barriers for technical training;

•

reduced protection of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries;

•

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

•

the interpretation of contractual provisions governed by foreign laws in the event of a contract dispute.

Foreign sales of our products could also be adversely affected by the imposition of governmental controls, political and economic
instability, trade restrictions, changes in tariffs and difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations.
If we market products in a manner that violates healthcare fraud and abuse laws, or if we violate government price reporting laws, we may
be subject to civil or criminal penalties.
In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pharmaceutical products, several other types of state and federal healthcare fraud and
abuse laws have been applied in recent years to restrict certain marketing practices in the pharmaceutical industry. These laws include false
claims statutes and anti-kickback statutes. Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the safe harbors, it is possible that some of
our business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of these laws.
Federal false claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim for payment to the
federal government or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false statement to get a false claim paid. The federal healthcare program antikickback statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting or receiving remuneration to induce, or in
return for, purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for the purchase, lease or order of any healthcare item or service reimbursable under
Medicare, Medicaid or other federally financed healthcare programs. This statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between
pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers on the other. Although there are several
statutory exemptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting certain common activities from prosecution, the exemptions and safe harbors are
drawn
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narrowly, and practices that involve remuneration intended to induce prescribing, purchasing or recommending may be subject to scrutiny if they
do not qualify for an exemption or safe harbor. Our practices may not in all cases meet all of the criteria for safe harbor protection from antikickback liability.
Over the past few years, several pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have been prosecuted under these laws for a variety of
alleged promotional and marketing activities, such as: allegedly providing free trips, free goods, sham consulting fees and grants and other
monetary benefits to prescribers; reporting to pricing services inflated average wholesale prices that were then used by federal programs to set
reimbursement rates; engaging in off-label promotion that caused claims to be submitted to Medicaid for non-covered, off-label uses; and
submitting inflated best price information to the Medicaid Rebate Program to reduce liability for Medicaid rebates. Most states also have statutes
or regulations similar to the federal anti-kickback law and false claims laws, which apply to items and services reimbursed under Medicaid and
other state programs, or, in several states, apply regardless of the payor. Sanctions under these federal and state laws may include civil monetary
penalties, exclusion of a manufacturer’s products from reimbursement under government programs, criminal fines and imprisonment.
If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of our
product candidates.
We face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the clinical testing of our product candidates and will face an even greater risk if
we commercialize any products. For example, we may be sued if any product we develop allegedly causes injury or is found to be otherwise
unsuitable during product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations of defects in
manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product, negligence, strict liability and a breach of warranties.
Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims,
we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of our product candidates. Even successful defense would require
significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:
•

decreased demand for our product candidates or products that we may develop;

•

injury to our reputation;

•

withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

•

costs to defend the related litigation;

•

a diversion of management’s time and our resources;

•

substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;

•

product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

•

loss of revenue;

•

the inability to commercialize our product candidates; and

•

a decline in our stock price.

Our inability to obtain and retain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential product liability
claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of products we develop. We currently carry product liability insurance covering our
clinical trials in the amount of $5.0 million in the aggregate. Although we maintain such insurance, any claim that may be brought against us
could result in a court judgment or settlement in an amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the
limits of our insurance coverage. Our insurance policies also have various exclusions, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for
which we have no coverage. We may have to pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage
limitations or that are not covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amounts.

Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property
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It is difficult and costly to protect our intellectual property rights, and we cannot ensure the protection of these rights.
We place considerable importance on obtaining patent protection for new technologies, products and processes because our commercial
success will depend, in part, on obtaining patent protection for new technologies, products and processes, successfully defending these patents
against third-party challenges and successfully enforcing our patents against third party competitors. To that end, we file applications for patents
covering compositions of matter or uses of our product candidates or our proprietary processes as well as other intellectual property important to
our business. The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal, scientific
and factual questions. Accordingly, our patent applications may never be approved by U.S. or foreign patent offices and the patents and patent
applications relating to our products, product candidates and technologies may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented by third parties and
might not protect us against competitors with similar products or technologies.
Others have filed, and in the future are likely to file, patent applications covering products and technologies that are similar, identical or
competitive to ours, or important to our business. We cannot be certain that any patent application owned by a third party will not have priority
over patent applications filed or in-licensed by us, or that we or our licensors will not be involved in interference, opposition or invalidity
proceedings before U.S. or foreign patent offices. In addition, under the recently enacted America Invents Act of 2011, or AIA, the U.S. patent
system, among other things, will transition from a first-to-invent to a first-to-file patent system, will increase the scope of prior art available for
patentability and invalidity determinations, and will introduce new procedures, including post-grant review and inter parties review, for
challenging U.S. patents once they have granted. The various provisions of the AIA, once they become effective, may impact our ability to
secure meaningful patent protection for inventions that we develop in the future.
We also rely on trade secrets to protect technology in cases when we believe patent protection is not appropriate or obtainable. However,
trade secrets are difficult to protect. While we require employees, academic collaborators, consultants and other contractors to enter into
confidentiality agreements, we may not be able to adequately protect our trade secrets or other proprietary information. Our research
collaborators and scientific advisors have rights to publish data and information in which we have rights. If we cannot maintain the
confidentiality of our technology and other confidential information in connection with our collaborators and advisors, our ability to receive
patent protection or protect our proprietary information may be imperiled.
Claims by third parties that we infringe their proprietary rights may result in liability for damages or prevent or delay our developmental and
commercialization efforts.
The biotechnology industry has been characterized by frequent litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. Because
patent applications are maintained in secrecy until the application is published, we may be unaware of third party patents that may be infringed
by commercialization of our product candidates. In addition, identification of third party patent rights that may be relevant to our technology is
difficult because patent searching is imperfect due to differences in terminology among patents, incomplete databases and the difficulty in
assessing the meaning of patent claims. Any claims of patent infringement asserted by third parties would be time consuming and could likely:
•

result in costly litigation;

•

divert the time and attention of our technical personnel and management;

•

cause product candidate development delays;

•

prevent us from commercializing a product until the asserted patent expires or is held finally invalid or not infringed in a court of
law;

•

require us to develop non-infringing technology; or

•

require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements.

Although no third party has asserted a claim of infringement against us, others may hold proprietary rights that could prevent our product
candidates from being marketed. Any patent-related legal action against our collaborators or us claiming damages and seeking to enjoin
commercial activities relating to our product candidates and processes could subject us to potential liability for damages and require our
collaborators or us to obtain a license to continue to manufacture or market the affected products and processes. We cannot predict whether our
collaborators or we would prevail in any such actions or that any license required under any of these patents would be made available on
commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In
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addition, we cannot be sure that we could redesign our product candidates or processes to avoid infringement, if necessary. Accordingly, an
adverse determination in a judicial or administrative proceeding, or the failure to obtain necessary licenses, could prevent us from developing
and commercializing at least some of our product candidates, which could harm our business, financial condition and operating results.
Our product candidates may infringe the intellectual property rights of others, which could increase our costs and delay or prevent our
development and commercialization efforts.
Our success also depends on avoiding infringement of the proprietary technologies of others. In particular, there may be certain issued
patents and patent applications claiming subject matter that our collaborators or we may be required to license in order to research, develop or
commercialize at least some of our product candidates, including ulimorelin and TZP-102 and we do not know if such patents and patent
applications would be available to license on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.
A number of companies, including several major pharmaceutical companies, have conducted research on pharmaceutical uses of growth
hormone secretagogues, including ghrelin and ghrelin analogs, which resulted in the filing of many patent applications related to this research.
We are aware of third party United States patents, and corresponding foreign counterparts, that contain broad claims related to methods of using
these general types of compounds, which may be construed to include ulimorelin and TZP-102, for stimulation of gastrointestinal motility or
treatment of neuropathy associated with diabetes. If we were to challenge the validity of these or any issued United States patent in court, we
would need to overcome a statutory presumption of validity that attaches to every United States patent. This means that in order to prevail, we
would have to present clear and convincing evidence as to the invalidity of the patent’s claims. If we were to challenge the enforceability of
these or any issued United States patent in court, we would need to meet the burden of showing that the patent is unenforceable. There is no
assurance that a jury and/or court would find in our favor on questions of infringement, validity or enforceability.
In addition, third parties may assert infringement or other intellectual property claims against us based on patents or other intellectual
property rights. An adverse outcome in these proceedings could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties, require disputed rights to be
licensed from third parties or require us to cease or modify our use of the technology. If we are required to license such technology, we cannot
assure you that a license under such patents and patent applications will be available on acceptable terms or at all. Further, we may incur
substantial costs defending ourselves in lawsuits against charges of patent infringement or other unlawful use of another’s proprietary
technology.
We may be subject to claims that we have wrongfully hired an employee from a competitor or that we or our employees have wrongfully used
or disclosed alleged confidential information or trade secrets of their former employers.
As is commonplace in our industry, we employ individuals who were previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical
companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Although no claims against us are currently pending, we may be subject in the
future to claims that our employees or prospective employees are subject to a continuing obligation to their former employers (such as noncompetition or non-solicitation obligations) or claims that our employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or
other proprietary information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in
defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.
If we do not obtain protection under the Hatch-Waxman Amendments and similar foreign legislation by extending the patent terms and
obtaining data exclusivity for our product candidates, our business may be materially harmed.
Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of FDA marketing approval of TZP-102 and our other products, one or more of our U.S.
patents may be eligible for limited patent term restoration under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred
to as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent restoration term of up to five years as compensation
for patent term lost during product development and the FDA regulatory review process. However, we may not be granted an extension because
of, for example, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy
applicable requirements. Moreover, the applicable time period or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than we request. If we are
unable to obtain patent term extension or restoration or the term of any such extension is less than we request, our competitors may obtain
approval of competing products following our patent expiration, and our revenue could be reduced, possibly materially.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Capital
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We have incurred significant operating losses since inception, and we expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future. We may never become
profitable or, if achieved, be able to sustain profitability.
We have incurred significant operating losses since we were founded in 1998 and expect to incur significant losses for the next several
years as we complete our Phase 3 trials for ulimorelin and we conduct our Phase 2b trial for TZP-102. As of March 31, 2012, we had an
accumulated deficit of $115.1 million . Losses have resulted principally from costs incurred in our clinical trials, research and development
programs and from our general and administrative expenses. In the future, we intend to continue to conduct research and development, clinical
testing, regulatory compliance activities and, if any of our product candidates is approved, sales and marketing activities that, together with
anticipated general and administrative expenses, will likely result in our incurring further significant losses for the next several years.
We currently generate no revenue from sales, and we may never be able to develop marketable drugs. As a result, there can be no
assurance that we will ever generate revenues or achieve profitability, which could impair our ability to sustain operations or obtain any required
additional funding. If we achieve profitability in the future, we may not be able to sustain profitability in subsequent periods.
Borrowings under our credit facility may not be available to us to operate our business and successfully develop and commercialize our
primary product candidate.
In January 2012, we entered into an amended and restated loan and security agreement with Horizon Finance Corporation and Oxford
Finance LLC. Under the amended loan facility, we borrowed an additional $9.3 million, bringing the total amount of our borrowings under the
facility to $20.0 million. The loan agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants and default and acceleration provisions. The
loan is secured by all of our assets, excluding intellectual property. In light of the recent results of our first clinical trial of ulimorelin , the lenders
could consider the loan in default and attempt to negotiate more onerous terms, make additional borrowings more difficult or accelerate all or a
portion of the debt. If we are forced to accept more onerous terms or repay all or a portion of our indebtedness and we are unable to secure
alternative financing, we could be required to significantly curtail one or more of our research or development programs, our financial condition
could become impaired and the market price of our shares could decline.
If we fail to obtain the capital necessary to fund our operations, we will be unable to successfully develop and commercialize our most
advanced product candidates.
We will require substantial future capital in order to conduct the research and development and clinical and regulatory activities necessary
to bring our most commercially viable product candidate, TZP-102, and other product candidates to market. The amount and timing of any
expenditure needed to implement our development and commercialization programs will depend on numerous factors, including:
•

the progress, costs, results of and timing of our Phase 2b clinical trial of TZP-102 for treatment of the symptoms associated with
diabetic gastroparesis and future clinical trials of TZP-102;

•

the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory approval in the United States and abroad for our product candidates;

•

the FDA’s willingness to review our TZP-102 application under the fast track development program;

•

the costs of obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our patents and other intellectual property rights globally;

•

the costs and timing of obtaining or maintaining manufacturing for our product candidates, including commercial manufacturing if
any of our product candidates is approved;

•

the costs and timing of establishing sales and marketing capabilities in selected markets; and

•

the terms and timing of establishing collaborations, license agreements and other partnerships on terms favorable to us.

Some of these factors are outside of our control. Based upon our currently expected level of operating expenditures, we should be able to
fund our operations into the fourth quarter of 2013 . However, we do not expect our existing capital resources to be sufficient to enable us to
fund the completion of any of our development programs through commercial introduction. We expect that we will need to raise additional funds
in the future.
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We may seek additional funding through collaboration agreements and public or private financings. Additional funding may not be
available to us on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, the terms of any financing may adversely affect the holdings or the rights of our
stockholders. In addition, the issuance of additional shares by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our shares to
decline.
If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely basis, we may be required to significantly curtail one or more of our research or development
programs. We also could be required to seek funds through arrangements with collaborative partners or otherwise that may require us to
relinquish rights to some of our technologies or product candidates or otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us.
Our ability to use net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and certain built-in losses to reduce future tax payments is limited by
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, and may be subject to further limitation as a result of the recent public offering of our stock.
Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, contain rules that limit the ability of a company that
undergoes an ownership change, which is generally any change in ownership of more than 50% of its stock over a three-year period, to utilize its
net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and certain built-in losses recognized in years after the ownership change. These rules generally
operate by focusing on ownership changes involving stockholders owning directly or indirectly 5% or more of the stock of a company and any
change in ownership arising from a new issuance of stock by the company. Generally, if an ownership change occurs, the yearly taxable income
limitation on the use of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and certain built-in losses is equal to the product of the applicable long
term tax exempt rate and the value of the company’s stock immediately before the ownership change. We may be unable to offset future taxable
income, if any, with losses, or our tax liability with credits, before such losses and credits expire and therefore would incur larger federal income
tax liability.
In addition, it is possible that the recent public offering of our stock, either on a standalone basis or when combined with future
transactions, will cause us to undergo one or more additional ownership changes. In that event, we generally would not be able to use our prechange loss or credit carryovers or certain built-in losses prior to such ownership change to offset future taxable income in excess of the annual
limitations imposed by Sections 382 and 383 and those attributes already subject to limitations as a result of our prior ownership changes may be
subject to more stringent limitations. As of December 31, 2011, we have estimated approximately $2.9 million of U.S. federal net operating loss
carryforwards are at risk of loss due to prior ownership changes, as well as approximately $11.7 million of U.S. federal and state net operating
loss carryforwards at risk of limitation in the event of a future ownership change.
Risks Related to our Common Stock
The trading price of the shares of our common stock could be highly volatile, and purchasers of our common stock could incur substantial
losses.
Our stock price is likely to be volatile. The stock market in general and the market for biotechnology companies in particular have
experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. As a result of this volatility,
investors may not be able to sell their common stock at or above the price at which it was purchased. The market price for our common stock
may be influenced by many factors, including:
•

our ability to enroll patients in our clinical trials;

•

results of clinical trials of our product candidates, those of our competitors or those of other companies in our market sector;

•

regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;

•

variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

•

changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems, especially in light of current reforms to the U.S. healthcare system;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;
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•

market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors and issuance of securities analysts’ reports or recommendations;

•

sales of our stock by insiders and 5% stockholders;

•

general economic, industry and market conditions;

•

additions or departures of key personnel;

•

intellectual property, product liability or other litigation against us;

•

expiration or termination of our relationships with our collaborators; and

•

the other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section.

In addition, in the past, stockholders have initiated class action lawsuits against biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies following
periods of volatility in the market prices of these companies’ stock. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could cause us to incur substantial
costs and divert management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly.
We expect our operating results to be subject to quarterly fluctuations. Our net loss and other operating results will be affected by
numerous factors, including:
•

variations in the level of expenses related to our development programs;

•

addition or termination of clinical trials;

•

any intellectual property infringement lawsuit in which we may become involved;

•

regulatory developments affecting our product candidates;

•

our execution of any collaborative, licensing or similar arrangements, and the timing of payments we may make or receive under
these arrangements; and

•

the achievement and timing of milestone payments under our existing strategic partnership agreements.

If our quarterly operating results fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock could
decline substantially. Furthermore, any quarterly fluctuations in our operating results may, in turn, cause the price of our stock to fluctuate
substantially.
Because a small number of our stockholders beneficially own a substantial amount of our common stock and have substantial control over
us, your ability to influence corporate matters will be limited.
As of March 31, 2012, our executive officers, directors and greater than 5% stockholders, in the aggregate, owned approximately 84.1%
of our outstanding common stock. As a result, such persons, acting together, will have the ability to control our management and affairs and
substantially all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election and removal of directors and approval of any
significant transaction. These persons will also have the ability to control our management and business affairs. This concentration of ownership
may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control, impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business
combination involving us, or discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our
business, even if such a transaction would benefit other stockholders.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may delay or
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prevent an acquisition of us or a change in our management. These provisions include:
•

the prohibition on actions by written consent of our stockholders;

•

the limitation on who may call a special meeting of stockholders;

•

the establishment of advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters
that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings;

•

the ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which would increase the number of
outstanding shares and could thwart a takeover attempt; and

•

the requirement of at least 75% of the outstanding common stock to amend any of the foregoing provisions.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which limits the ability of stockholders owning in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock to merge or combine with us.
Although we believe these provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to obtain greater value for stockholders by requiring potential
acquirers to negotiate with our board of directors, they would apply even if an offer rejected by our board were considered beneficial by some
stockholders. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current
management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the
members of our management.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend
on appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock and do not currently intend to do so for the foreseeable future.
We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate
declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Therefore, the success of an investment in shares of our common stock will
depend upon any future appreciation in their value. There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or even
maintain the price at which our stockholders have purchased their shares.
The trading market in our common stock has been extremely limited and substantially less liquid than the average trading market for a stock
quoted on The NASDAQ Global Market. Additionally, the public float of our common stock is approximately 75.6% of our outstanding
shares of common stock, which substantially reduces the liquidity of our common stock and contributes to the limited trading volume for our
common stock.
Since our initial listing on The NASDAQ Global Market on April 1, 2011, the trading market in our common stock has been extremely
limited and substantially less liquid than the average trading market for companies quoted on The NASDAQ Global Market. The quotation of
our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Market does not assure that a meaningful, consistent and liquid trading market currently exists. We
cannot predict whether a more active market for our common stock will develop in the future. An absence of an active trading market could
adversely affect our stockholders' ability to sell our common stock at current market prices in short time periods, or possibly at all. Additionally,
market visibility for our common stock may be limited and such lack of visibility may have a depressive effect on the market price for our
common stock. Our executive officers, directors and affiliates, in the aggregate own approximately 24.4% of our outstanding shares of common
stock, which adversely affects the liquidity of the trading market for our common stock, in as much as federal securities laws restrict sales of our
shares by these stockholders. If our affiliates continue to hold their shares of common stock, there will be limited trading volume in our common
stock, which may make it more difficult for investors to sell their shares or increase the volatility of our stock price.
Future sales of our common stock may cause our stock price to decline.
If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intent to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market after legal
restrictions lapse, the trading price of our common stock could decline significantly. Moreover, a relatively small number of our stockholders
own large blocks of shares. We cannot predict the effect, if any, that public sales of these shares or the availability of these shares for sale will
have on the market price of our common stock.
After the lock-up agreements pertaining to our initial public offering expired on September 29, 2011, an additional 10,208,845 shares
became eligible for sale in the public market, subject to any applicable volume limitations under federal
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securities laws. In addition, as of March 31, 2012 , we had outstanding exercisable options and outstanding warrants to purchase shares of
common stock that, if exercised, will result in these additional shares becoming available for sale, subject in some cases to volume limitations.
Shares subject to outstanding options under our equity incentive plans and shares reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans
will also become eligible for sale in the public market in the future, subject to certain legal and contractual limitations. Moreover, as of
March 31, 2012 certain holders of our common stock have the right to require us to register these shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, pursuant to a registration rights agreement. If our existing stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public
market, or if the public perceives that such sales could occur, this could have an adverse impact on the market price of our common stock, even
if there is no relationship between such sales and the performance of our business.
Failure to achieve and maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to produce accurate financial statements and on our stock price.
Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we will be required to furnish a report by our management on our internal
control over financial reporting beginning with the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. We have not been subject to these requirements in the
past. The internal control report must contain (a) a statement of management’s responsibility for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting, (b) a statement identifying the framework used by management to conduct the required evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, (c) management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of the end of our most recent fiscal year, including a statement as to whether or not internal control over financial reporting
is effective, and (d) a statement that our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on internal control over
financial reporting.
To achieve compliance with Section 404 within the prescribed period, we are engaged in a process to document and evaluate our internal
control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging. In this regard, we will have dedicated internal resources, engaged outside
consultants and adopted a detailed work plan to (a) assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, (b) take steps
to improve control processes where appropriate, (c) validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented, and (d) implement a
continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting. Despite our efforts, we can provide no assurance as
to our, or our independent registered public accounting firm’s, conclusions with respect to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting under Section 404. There is a risk that neither we nor our independent registered public accounting firm will be able to conclude within
the prescribed time frame that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as required by Section 404. This could result in an adverse
reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of confidence in the reliability of our financial statements.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports or publish unfavorable research or reports about our business, our stock
price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about
us, our business, our market or our competitors. We have limited research coverage by securities and industry analysts and may not maintain
such coverage or obtain research coverage by additional securities and industry analysts. If we do not maintain such existing coverage, and
additional securities or industry analysts do not commence coverage of our company, the trading price for our stock would be negatively
impacted. If one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our stock, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these
analysts ceases to cover us or fails to regularly publish reports on us, interest in our stock could decrease, which could cause our stock price or
trading volume to decline.
Item 2. Unregistered Sale of Securities and Use of Proceeds
On January 31, 2012, in connection with the $9.3 million in additional loan proceeds received under our amended and restated loan
agreement, we issued to Oxford, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 100,545 shares of common stock and to Horizon, a warrant to purchase
62,943 shares of common stock. The exercise price for each warrant is $3.67 per share. The warrants are immediately exercisable, and excluding
certain mergers or acquisitions, will expire on January 30, 2022. These warrants for common stock were issued in a private placement pursuant
to Rule 506 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and thus have not been registered under the Securities Act. The
securities may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable exemption from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act.
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Item 6.

Exhibits

(a) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

Form of Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170749)).

3.2

Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170749)).

4.1

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170749)).

4.2

Fourth Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated as of May 12, 2005 by and among the Company and the
investors listed therein, as amended (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170749)).

4.3

Warrant to Purchase Stock dated December 3, 2008 issued by the Company to Oxford Finance Corporation (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170749)).

4.4

Warrant to Purchase Stock dated December 3, 2008 issued by the Company to Silicon Valley Bank (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170749)).

4.5

Warrant to Purchase Stock dated September 30, 2010 issued by the Company to Compass Horizon Funding Company LLC
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333170749)).

4.6

Warrant to Purchase Stock dated September 30, 2010 issued by the Company to Oxford Finance Corporation (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.6 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170749)).

4.7

Form of Warrant to Purchase Stock issued by the Company on January 31, 2012. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's current
report on Form 8-K, filed February 1, 2012).

10.1

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of January 31, 2012 by and among the Company, TranzymeCanada, Horizon and Oxford (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K, filed February 1, 2012).

10.2

Sales Agreement, dated May 7, 2012, by and between the Company and Cowen and Company (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 1.2 to the Comapny's Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed May 7, 2012 (File No. 333-181215)).

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification of Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1**

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2**

Certification of Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS+

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH+

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL+

XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB+

XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE+

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF+

XBRL Taxonomy Definitions Linkbase Document

___________________________________________________________________________________________

*Filed herewith
**Furnished herewith
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+ Attached as Exhibits 101 to this report are the following financial statements from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2012 , formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (iv) related notes to these financial statements tagged
as blocks of text.
The XBRL related information in Exhibits 101 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q shall not be deemed “filed” or a part of a registration
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Securities Act”) and is not filed for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liabilities of those
sections.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

TRANZYME, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: May 11, 2012

By:

/s/ Vipin K. Garg, Ph.D.
Vipin K. Garg, Ph.D.
President Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 11, 2012

By:

/s/Richard I. Eisenstadt
Richard I. Eisenstadt, VP, Finance and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Vipin K. Garg, Ph.D., certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tranzyme, Inc. (the registrant);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) (Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313);
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 11, 2012

By:

/s/ Vipin K. Garg, Ph.D.
Vipin K. Garg, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Richard I. Eisenstadt, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tranzyme, Inc. (the registrant);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) (Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313);
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 11, 2012

By: /s/ Richard I. Eisenstadt
Richard I. Eisenstadt, VP, Finance and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Tranzyme, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 , as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Vipin K. Garg, Ph.D., President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that: (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 11, 2012

By: /s/ Vipin K. Garg, Ph.D.
Vipin K. Garg, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Tranzyme, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 , as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard I. Eisenstadt, VP, Finance and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that: (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 11, 2012

By: /s/ Richard I. Eisenstadt
Richard I. Eisenstadt, VP, Finance and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

